

1

Rethinking ecological niches and geographic distributions in face of pervasive human influence in the Anthropocene

Xiao Feng^{1,*}, A. Townsend Peterson², Luis José Aguirre-López¹, Joseph R. Burger³, Xin Chen⁴, and Monica Papeş⁵

¹Department of Biology, University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill, NC 27599, USA

²Biodiversity Institute, University of Kansas, Lawrence, KS 66045, USA

³Department of Biology, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY 40502, USA

⁴Appalachian Laboratory, University of Maryland Center for Environmental Science, Frostburg, MD 21532, USA

 5 Department of Ecology and Evolutionary Biology, University of Tennessee, Knoxville, TN 37996, USA

ABSTRACT

Species are distributed in predictable ways in geographic spaces. The three principal factors that determine geographic distributions of species are biotic interactions (**B**), abiotic conditions (**A**), and dispersal ability or mobility (**M**). A species is expected to be present in areas that are accessible to it and that contain suitable sets of abiotic and biotic conditions for it to persist. A species' probability of presence can be quantified as a combination of responses to **B**, **A**, and **M** via ecological niche modeling (ENM; also frequently referred to as species distribution modeling or SDM). This analytical approach has been used broadly in ecology and biogeography, as well as in conservation planning and decision-making, but commonly in the context of 'natural' settings. However, it is increasingly recognized that human impacts, including changes in climate, land cover, and ecosystem function, greatly influence species' geographic ranges. In this light, historical distinctions between natural and anthropogenic factors have become blurred, and a coupled human-natural landscape is recognized as the new norm. Therefore, **B**, **A**, and **M** (BAM) factors need to be reconsidered to understand and quantify species' distributions in a world with a pervasive signature of human impacts. Here, we present a framework, termed human-influenced BAM (Hi-BAM, for distributional ecology that (i) conceptualizes human impacts in the form of six drivers, and (ii) synthesizes previous studies to show how each driver modifies the natural BAM and species' distributions. Given the importance and prevalence of human impacts on species distributions globally, we also discuss implications of this framework for ENM/SDM methods, and explore strategies by which to incorporate increasing human impacts in the methodology. Human impacts are redefining biogeographic patterns; as such, future studies should incorporate signals of human impacts integrally in modeling and forecasting species' distributions.

Key words: Anthropocene, climate change, ecological niche, evolution, invasive species, urbanization, geographic distribution.

CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	 . 2
II.	Overview of human impacts on BAM	 . 3
	(1) Human introduction of non-native species	 3
	(2) Human-induced climate change	 3
	(3) Human-induced land cover change	 3
	(4) Human-induced pollution	 6

^{*} Author for correspondence (Tel.: +1 919 962 2211; E-mail: fengxiao.sci@gmail.com).

Biological Reviews (2024) 000–000 © 2024 The Authors. *Biological Reviews* published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and is not used for commercial purposes.

	(5) Humans as biotic agents	. 6
	(6) Humans as selective and evolutionary drivers	. 6
	(7) The socioeconomic context	. 8
III.	Implications and challenges of human impacts for ENM/SDM	8
	(1) Human activities can directly and indirectly affect B. A. and M	. 8
	(2) The effects of human drivers can vary over spatial and temporal scales	. 9
	(3) Rethinking fundamental and realized niche concepts in the context of human impacts	10
	(4) Assessing the assumptions of ENM/SDM in the context of human impacts	11
	(5) The need for a more dynamic view of species' geographic distributions	12
IV.	Ways to improve ENM/SDM in practice in the context of human impacts	. 12
	(1) Enhance model extrapolation under novel environmental conditions	12
	(2) Incorporate anthropogenic-related predictors in the modeling process	13
	(3) Incorporate environmental data at fine spatio-temporal scale to capture anthropogenic changes	14
	(4) Consider anthropogenic factors in the design of model training domains	16
	(5) Incorporate human-induced dynamics of biotic interactions in modeling species' geographic	
	distributions	16
V.	Conclusions	. 17
VI.	Acknowledgement	.17
VII	References	.17

I. INTRODUCTION

Species have predictable distributional patterns in geographic spaces. The relationship between a species' geographic distribution and the environment has been a central question in ecology and biogeography, and many theoretical discussions of this relationship stem from the concept of ecological niche. Hutchinson's definition of fundamental niche has seen wide acceptance: in the hyper-volume space composed of environmental variables, 'a set of points, each one of which defines a possible set of environmental values permitting the species to live (Hutchinson, 1978, p. 160)' or 'to exist indefinitely' (Hutchinson, 1957, p. 416).

In recent decades, correlative approaches have been used to quantify relationships between species' occurrence and environmental conditions (e.g. climate, topography); this approach is termed ecological niche modeling (ENM) or species distribution modeling (SDM) (Franklin, 2010; Peterson et al., 2011). A distinction can be made between the two terms in that ENM aims to estimate the species' ecological niche in environmental space, whereas SDM emphasizes the species' distribution in geographic space (Peterson & Soberón, 2012); in practice, the two terms refer to much the same set of analyses and are commonly used interchangeably in the literature. Recent advancements in primary biodiversity data digitization, environmental monitoring, and modeling algorithms and software have greatly promoted development of this field (Franklin, 2010). ENM/SDM has been applied broadly in biodiversity conservation, for invasive species management, estimating distributions of species of conservation concern, and aiding in rare species surveys (Peterson et al., 2011; Guisan et al., 2013).

The development and broad application of ENM/SDM was built on fundamental and theoretical work that underpins this field. Notably, the conceptualization of the BAM framework (Soberón & Peterson, 2005) and the critical discussion of niche concepts and species' geographic distributions (Soberón, 2007; Soberón & Nakamura, 2009) have influenced the development and use of ENM/SDM. As species are distributed in predictable ways in geographic spaces, factors that determine these patterns can be classified into three categories: biotic interactions (**B**), abiotic conditions (**A**), and dispersal ability or mobility (**M**). In brief, a species is expected to be present in areas with suitable biotic interactions and abiotic conditions and that have been accessible to the species *via* dispersal over relevant time periods. As such, the probability of a species' presence can be quantified as a function of its mobility and its responses to and requirements of abiotic and biotic factors.

It is increasingly recognized that human impacts, including global warming, land cover change, and ecosystem changes, strongly affect species' geographic ranges (Ellis, 2015). Historical distinctions between natural and human-impacted areas have become blurred, and a coupled, human-natural landscape is recognized as the new norm. Therefore, the need to rethink the ecological basis of ENM/SDM becomes a crucial step to improve understanding and quantifying of species' distributions in a world with pervasive signatures of human impacts.

BAM provides a solid conceptual framework for studying species' ecological niches and geographic distributions, but is clearly cast in large part in natural settings and does not consider anthropogenic effects directly and integrally. In the context of the Anthropocene, characterized by increasing impacts from human activities (Steffen *et al.*, 2015; Steffen, Crutzen & McNeill, 2007), the three dimensions of BAM and the associated assumptions need to be re-evaluated to incorporate the effects of human impacts. Put another way, distributional estimates and forecasts in ENM/SDM are based on relationships between geographic distributions and environmental factors; these relationships can be altered profoundly by human activities, thus requiring reconsideration of the

1469185x, 0, Downloaded from https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.13077, Wiley Online Library on [10/04/2024]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by the applicable Creative Commons License

underlying theory to account for human impacts appropriately.

Here, we present a revised synthesis of distributional ecology in a framework that conceptualizes factors related to human activities (anthropogenic factors) in six major categories (Table 1). We have organized this synthesis around the widely adopted BAM framework. We discuss how each anthropogenic driver directly or indirectly affects species' distributions by modifying the natural setup of **B**, **A**, and **M** and term this expanded framework human-influenced BAM (Hi-BAM; Fig. 1, Table 1). We discuss implications of such changes for ENM/SDM methods, and explore strategies by which to incorporate increasing human impacts in the methodology (Table 2).

II. OVERVIEW OF HUMAN IMPACTS ON BAM

The impacts of anthropogenic activities on the Earth's ecosystems and biodiversity have been discussed frequently in the literature and conceptualized as different groups of drivers (Salafsky *et al.*, 2008; Franklin *et al.*, 2016; Kelly *et al.*, 2020; Uchida *et al.*, 2021; Fenoglio *et al.*, 2021). Herein, we summarize human impacts in terms of six major groups of drivers based on a conceptual framework for understanding species' geographic distributions (Table 1).

(1) Human introduction of non-native species

Humans can affect species' distributions directly by intentionally or unintentionally introducing species outside of their native ranges, and these activities can break down biogeographic boundaries and redefine biodiversity patterns (Capinha *et al.*, 2015; Fricke & Svenning, 2020). Such introduction effects span the full taxonomic and functional spectrum, including animals, plants, viruses, bacteria, and fungi, and are noticeable at global scales; these effects will likely continue to increase with globalization (Seebens *et al.*, 2017).

Humans began introducing species intentionally in the form of domesticated animals and crop plants across global landscapes since the earliest times in recorded human history (Ahmad et al., 2020). In modern times, effects of human introductions have been intensified by enhanced mobility (e.g. cars, trains, ships, aeroplanes), evidenced by the wellknown 100 worst invasive species across the world (Lowe et al., 2000). For example, the house rat (Rattus rattus), native to India, has been introduced unintentionally to all continents. The earliest known pandemics of plague (Yersinia *pestis*) were limited to Eurasia, but global-scale ship movements allowed the Third Pandemic of plague to reach ports worldwide (Frith, 2012). In many other cases, species introductions were intentional, for example as biological control (cane toad, Rhinella marina) (Shanmuganathan et al., 2010) or food sources (giant African snail, Lissachatina fulica) (Thiengo et al., 2007). Note that species introductions and

range expansion are not necessarily international or intercontinental, but can also be local or regional. For example, the geographic distribution of Eastern redcedar (*Juniperus virginiana*) has expanded to many grassland areas in the USA because of fire suppression and certain land management practices (Walker & Hoback, 2007).

Beside direct effects on species' geographic distributions, human-induced introductions of non-native species and alterations to the environment can also have indirect effects on species' geographic distributions by changing the status of biotic interactions (Young, 2014). A notable example is that successful establishment of invasive species after introduction can be attributed to release from predators or pathogens (i.e. altered biotic context) (Urban, Zarnetske & Skelly, 2013; Prior *et al.*, 2015). Additionally, establishment of invasive species can also lead to distributional changes of species that are native to the invaded site. Indeed, the presence of cane toad, a well-studied invasive species, is associated with a 40% combined decline of local species richness of reptiles, birds, and mammals in Australia (Jolly, Shine & Greenlees, 2015).

(2) Human-induced climate change

Anthropogenic activities are changing the Earth's climate at global scale, with pervasive direct effects on species' geographic distributions. Climate change is characterized by an increase in global mean temperature, which leads to range shifts poleward and to higher elevations for a wide variety of plants, vertebrates, and invertebrates (Hickling *et al.*, 2006; Lenoir *et al.*, 2008; Outhwaite, McCann & Newbold, 2022). Importantly, global warming is accompanied by more frequent extreme weather and climate events (Stott, 2016), such as floods, drought, and heatwaves, which are associated with large-scale die-off events (Welbergen *et al.*, 2008; Jones *et al.*, 2018; Hammond *et al.*, 2022). These extreme events play an important role in determining species' range boundaries (Smale & Wernberg, 2013; Osland, Day & Michot, 2020).

Further, broad-scale changes in plant species distributions due to climate change can modify abiotic conditions, which can subsequently affect geographic distributions of many other species. Indeed, warming effects in Arctic regions can be amplified by changes in albedo from forest cover loss (Swann *et al.*, 2010). In the Tropics, deforestation and fires are continuously decreasing the extent of rainforest in the Amazon Basin, with subsequent effects on regional climates (e.g. drier) (Staal *et al.*, 2020); by some estimates, at 25% deforestation, the eastern, central, and southern Amazon Basin could transition to non-forest ecosystems owing to regional drier climate, triggering major compositional and distributional changes of Amazonian biodiversity (Lovejoy & Nobre, 2018).

(3) Human-induced land cover change

Another global-scale effect of anthropogenic activities is land cover change (Foley *et al.*, 2005). It is estimated that three-

abiotic (A) or dispersal abili	by (\mathbf{M}) factors.		
	Impacts on B, A, and M		
Human lactors	Biotic interactions	Abiotic conditions	Dispersal ability
Human introduction of non-native species	[ID] Changes in community composition, thus changes in biotic interactions among native and non-native species, or among non-native species (Yourne 2014: Caminba at al. 2015)	[ID] Changes in abiotic conditions caused by a highly abundant invasive species (e.g. zebra mussel <i>Dreissena polymorpha</i> and water quality, Fahrenseicl <i>st al</i> 1995)	[D] Greatly increased accessible area at continental, regional, or local scale (Lowe <i>et al.</i> , 2000; Walker & Hoback 2007)
Human-induced climate change	[ID] Changes in species' distributions that modify community composition and species interactions (Williams & Jackson, 2007)	 [D] Novel climatic conditions, or novel combinations of conditions (Williams & Jackson, 2007) [D] More frequent extreme conditions (Stort 2016) 	[D & ID] Increased and decreased dispersal ability (Travis <i>et al.</i> , 2013)
Human-induced land cover change	[D & ID] Altered community composition and biotic interactions because of species' different responses to modified landscape (Fuller, 2000; Vitule <i>et al.</i> , 2012; Tsiafouli <i>et al.</i> , 2015; Sreekar <i>et al.</i> , 2017)	[D & ID] Changes in environmental conditions, such as land use and land cover (Song et al., 2018), local climate (Phelan et al., 2015), water attributes (Timpe & Kaplan, 2017), runoff, flood frequency, and sittation (Boulange et al., 2021; Ma et al., 2022), and fire regimes (Messina & Cochrane, 2007)	 [D] Impeded (Merritt & Wohl, 2006; Shepard et al., 2008) or enhanced (Brown et al., 2006; Leuven et al., 2009) dispersal [D] Changed migration patterns (Masden et al., 2009; Skarin et al., 2015) [D] Habitat fragmentation, decreased habitat connectivity, and increased cost of dispersal (Fischer & Lindenmayer, 2007; D. 2010)
Human-induced pollution	[ID] Modified biotic interactions because of taxonomic differences in resistance to human pollution (Newman et al., 1992; Bergmann et al. 2017)	[D] Polluted air, land, and fresh and saltwater systems by toxic chemicals, light, and noise (Tyler Miller & Spoolman, 2015)	Donce et al., 2012) [D] Spatial and temporal changes in animals' activity (Overton et al., 2022; La Sorte et al., 2022)
Humans as biotic agents (consumptive use)	[D] Changes in community composition and biotic interactions because of humans' selective use or species' different resilience to human consumptive use (Bennett <i>et al.</i> , 2002; Essington <i>et al.</i> , 2015)	 [D] Changes in local and regional climatic conditions due to forest cover loss (Perugini et al., 2017; Keenan & Kimmins, 1993; O'Brien, 1998) [D] Above- and belowground environmental changes with extinction of keystone species (e.g. bison and wolf) (Knapp et al., 1999; Frank, 2008) and bushmeat consumption (Dec.d., al., 2000) 	[D] Increased accessible area of human- cultivated species (Flower <i>et al.</i> , 2021)
Humans as biotic agents (intrusions and disturbance)	[ID] Changes in community structure and thus biotic interactions due to differences in species- specific sensitivity to human disturbance (Blumstein d al 9005; Alexandrino d al 9016)	(D) Altered soundscape and lightscape (Dumyahn [D] Altered soundscape and lightscape (Dumyahn & Pijanowski, 2011; Koen <i>et al.</i> , 2018)	[D] Spatial and temporal changes in animal movements (Filla <i>et al.</i> , 2017; Yang <i>et al.</i> , 2019)
Humans as selective and evolutionary drivers	[ID] Evolutionary changes in response to novel biotic interactors (e.g. hosts, competitors, predators) and evolved resistance to novel diseases (Strauss <i>et al.</i> , 2006)	[ID] Rapid evolution of tolerance to novel abiotic conditions (e.g. warm, cold, drought, water salinity, pollution) (Lee <i>et al.</i> , 2011; Turko <i>et al.</i> , 2016; Coldsnow <i>et al.</i> , 2017; Ljungfeldt <i>et al.</i> , 2017; Tian <i>et al.</i> , 2022)	 [ID] Rapid evolution of lower or higher dispersal (Cheptou et al., 2008; Alford et al., 2009; Hudson et al., 2016; Ochocki & Miller, 2017)



Fig. 1. Conceptual illustration of the effects of human-induced changes on biotic (**B**), abiotic (**A**) and mobility (**M**) factors that determine species' geographic distributions. Compared with natural settings, a species' dispersal ability (red circle) could be greatly reduced because of human-related restrictions (e.g. habitat fragmentation), thus becoming the most limiting factor for geographic distribution (A), or be greatly increased *via* human introduction (**B**, **C**), and thus no longer a limiting factor for geographic distribution (**C**). The original intersection of biotic, abiotic, and mobility factors is shown in green and the new or additional intersection is shown in blue. (**D**) The abiotic niche of a species in an environmental space (temperature and precipitation). The species is present in conditions (gray points) inside the abiotic niche (black circle). Human-driven climate change may create novel environmental conditions. Some novel conditions are inside the abiotic niche (green points) and may be occupied by the species, whereas some novel conditions are outside the abiotic niche (red crosses); the latter conditions may become suitable for a species in *(Figure 1 legend continues on next page.*)

Biological Reviews (2024) 000-000 © 2024 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

5

quarters of global land area have been modified by humans in the past millennium, and one-third of global land area has been modified at least once in the past six decades (Luyssaert *et al.*, 2014; Arneth *et al.*, 2019; Winkler *et al.*, 2021). This massive scale of land cover change has caused habitat loss and degradation and biodiversity loss (Pimm & Raven, 2000; Foley *et al.*, 2005). Anthropogenic land use also leads to habitat fragmentation and decreased connectivity of species' populations (Fischer & Lindenmayer, 2007; Tucker *et al.*, 2018). The biotic factors within a species' geographic range, such as food sources and community composition, can also be modified by land cover change (Fuller, 2000; Tsiafouli *et al.*, 2015; Sreekar *et al.*, 2017).

(4) Human-induced pollution

The effects of anthropogenic activities extend beyond climate or land cover changes, to worldwide pollution of the air, land, and fresh and saltwater environments. Such pollutants include toxic chemicals, plastics, artificial light, and noise (Tyler Miller & Spoolman, 2015), among others. Those pollutants have led to spatial and temporal changes in animals' activity and geographic distributions (Overton *et al.*, 2022; La Sorte *et al.*, 2022). For example, one-third of the examined passerine species were found to have reduced abundance around noise-generating compressor stations (Bayne, Habib & Boutin, 2008). Consequently, a large body of literature is focused on selecting indicator species that are sensitive to environmental change (Siddig *et al.*, 2016), especially pollutants, such as lichens for air pollution and amphibians for water pollution.

Impacts of pollution on biodiversity are not only local, but also pronounced at continental scales. For example, it is estimated that one fifth of the land area in the USA is impacted by traffic noise (Forman, 2000), and noise pollution has become an important perturbation of breeding distributions of bird species in North America (Klingbeil *et al.*, 2020). Plastic pollution is known to pose threats to seabirds globally (Wilcox, Van Sebille & Hardesty, 2015). While pollution can restrict geographic distributions of many species (Finn, Grattarola & Pincheira-Donoso, 2023), different species will likely exhibit varying degrees of resilience to human pollution, thus leading to shifts in community composition and changes in biotic interactions (Newman, Schreiber & Novakova, 1992; Bergmann et al., 2017).

(5) Humans as biotic agents

Humans can also play a major and multifaceted role as a biotic agent in interspecific interactions that affect species' geographic distributions across space and time. Humans are consumers of many species, with effects that range from decreased abundance to local extirpation or global extinction (Faillettaz *et al.*, 2019; Ripple *et al.*, 2019). Humans also compete with other species for habitat and a variety of resources; for example, competition with carnivores for prey has affected carnivore range dynamics (Mech, 1995; Treves & Karanth, 2003). Humans can also play a positive role for some species. For example, conservation management actions can be critical for persistence of endangered species (Xu *et al.*, 2017); humans also act as efficient seed dispersers for crop species and many species considered as invasive (Ditmer *et al.*, 2021).

Besides having direct biotic effects, humans can also interact indirectly with other species through encroachment and disturbance (Salafsky *et al.*, 2008), affecting the spatial and temporal dynamics of species' geographic distributions. For example, disturbances can be caused by recreational activities on public lands, with many species avoiding such disturbance by shifting their spatial and temporal presence (Filla *et al.*, 2017; Yang *et al.*, 2019). This effect can cascade in food webs and modify the spatial and temporal presence of additional species (Muhly *et al.*, 2011; Ripple & Beschta, 2006); similar effects also have been noted in response to artificial nighttime lights in anthropogenic landscapes (Ditmer *et al.*, 2021).

(6) Humans as selective and evolutionary drivers

Anthropogenic effects on **B**, **A**, and **M** can be both extrinsic and intrinsic to a species. Extrinsically, human-induced changes can alter community composition, abiotic conditions, and the physical template for species' dispersal (Fig. 2). Intrinsically, humans can pose direct and indirect selection pressures on species, such as tolerance of novel abiotic conditions, capacity for interacting with novel species,

⁽Figure legend continued from previous page.)

the case of ecological niche evolution, such as the species becoming more heat tolerant (blue points). (E) In addition to the classic abiotic conditions, other human-generated factors are known to affect species' geographic distributions, which can increase the dimensionality when delineating the ecological niche (blue axis in E). (F–K) The biotic interactions (**B**) that determine a species' geographic distribution can also undergo various changes. Different species are represented by circles, their interactions are represented by solid lines (gray for natural connections and red for novel connections), and lost interactions are represented by dotted lines. (F) A biotic network of four species in a focal species' native range (species that interacted with the focal species in the native range are represented by gray circles). Because of human effects, the network could face changes in the strength (increased/ decreased), quantity (more/fewer), and structure (simpler/more complex) of biotic interactions in the native range (G). In extreme cases, humans become the dominant factor in the network of biotic interactions (H). A focal species introduced outside the native range will face novel biotic interactions with the native species in the introduced range (gray squares) (I); it is possible for the focal species' native range (gray circle) (K) but in the context of the introduced range.

BAM factor	Challenges for ENM/SDM in the context of human impacts	Strategies to mitigate or address the challenges
A	Model extrapolation, although commonly associated with high uncertainty, is usually unavoidable and frequently can be involved in forecasting range dynamics because environments are changing rapidly with human activities.	 (i) Quantify environmental novelty as a proxy to infer the uncertainty of predictions [see methodology in Elith et al. (2010) and Owens et al. (2013)]. (ii) Select model settings to enhance model spatial/ temporal transferability through model tuning [see methodology in Muscarella et al. (2014) and Valavi et al. (2019)]. (iii) Incorporate biologically meaningful information in model fitting to enhance model extrapolation [see case studies in Calleja et al. (2020), Gamliel et al. (2020), and Feng et al. (2020)].
Α	In addition to the commonly considered abiotic conditions (e.g. climate), the fundamental niche can be measured with environmental conditions that are driven by human activities, such as land use, chemical pollution or anthropogenic light and sound conditions that can limit (or facilitate) species' geographic distribution to varying degrees.	Incorporate appropriate human-related variables in model training and forecasting, with the consideration of focal species, spatial-temporal scale, and complexity of the response types [see use of human footprint for invasive species in Gallardo <i>et al.</i> (2015) and use of artificial night light and anthropogenic noise for birds in Wilson <i>et al.</i> (2021)].
Α	Species' geographic distributions are experiencing a more rapid rate of change under accelerating human-induced environmental changes, thus we need a more dynamic view in modeling species' geographic distributions.	 (i) Incorporate environmental data at fine spatio- temporal scales to capture the rapidly changing environments. See applications for bats (Hayes <i>et al.</i>, 2015) and birds (Runge <i>et al.</i>, 2015). (<i>ii</i>) Enhance the spatial and temporal match between species' occurrence data and environmental data. See example in Bateman <i>et al.</i> (2012).
Μ	Human-mediated dispersal and human-modified landscapes can greatly alter species' mobility, and thus their geographic distributions; therefore the view of natural dispersal capacity and natural barriers should be reconsidered in the context of human impacts.	Consider species' mobility in the context of human impacts when designing a model-training domain and conducting model projections.
В	The assumption of relatively static biotic interactions is more likely to be violated under scenarios of climate change, species range shifts, or human introductions.	Integrate human-induced dynamics of biotic interactions in modeling species' geographic distributions, such as using the presence, abundance, or suitability of relevant species as predictors (Kass <i>et al.</i> , 2020), modeling the co-occurrences of multiple species (Pollock <i>et al.</i> , 2014), and using traits to infer potential biotic interactions (Caron <i>et al.</i> , 2022).

and dispersal ability for maintaining existing or colonizing new sites (Otto, 2018) (Fig. 2). Rapid evolution directly or indirectly associated with human-induced changes has been documented in an increasing number of cases (Feder, 2010; Hoffmann & Sgrò, 2011; Diamond, 2017; Schilthuizen, 2019; Catullo et al., 2019). Evidence is accumulating regarding the implications of climate change for rapid evolution of heat tolerance [e.g. water fleas (Geerts et al., 2015); fishes (Ljungfeldt et al., 2017); ants (Diamond et al., 2017)] and cold tolerance [e.g. fishes (Barrett et al., 2011); beetles (Tian et al., 2022)].

Besides temperature, rapid evolution has also been documented in species' tolerances to drought, salinity, and pollution (Franks et al., 2016; Turko et al., 2016; Coldsnow et al., 2017; Lee et al., 2011). Landscape fragmentation caused by human activities not only affects distances that species are able to disperse, but can also select for lower dispersal capacity (Cheptou et al., 2008). On the other hand, selection for higher dispersal capacity is more frequent during biological invasions (Alford et al., 2009; Hudson et al., 2016; Ochocki & Miller, 2017). In communities modified by human activities, cases of evolutionary change have been documented in response to novel hosts (e.g. phytophagous insects shift onto exotic host plants), competitors (e.g. character displacement between native and introduced fish species), predators (e.g. morphological responses of native prey to introduced predators), as well as evolved resistance in response to novel diseases (reviewed in Strauss, Lau & Carroll, 2006).

Note that the various responses to anthropogenic changes rest on the underlying genetics of a species. Besides direct human impacts on a species' genetic makeup (e.g. domestication;



Fig. 2. Conceptual illustration of human impacts on biotic (**B**), abiotic (**A**) and mobility (**M**) factors. Humans can directly affect all parts of the BAM framework and species' geographic distributions *via* acting as a biotic agent, by human-generated environmental conditions, and by human-mediated dispersal. Human impacts can also lead to extrinsic and intrinsic changes to BAM. Extrinsically, human-induced changes can alter community composition, abiotic conditions, and the physical template for species' dispersal. Intrinsically, humans can also impose direct and indirect selection pressures on species, such as tolerance of novel abiotic conditions, capacity for interacting with novel species, and necessary dispersal ability for maintaining existing or colonizing new sites.

Young, 2016), 'hidden' pathways affecting genetics of a species, either intentional, incidental, or accidental, can have implications for changes in BAM and geographic distribution of a species. For example, human-mediated introductions represent a pathway that can modify gene flow among populations, thus affecting adaptation of populations in the introduced range (Storfer, 1999; Barbour, Potts & Vaillancourt, 2003). Introduction of transgenic DNA through escaped genetically modified salmon (Smith et al., 2010) and pollen from transgenic crops (Warwick et al., 2003) can have consequences for the species' wild populations or their relatives. Reductions in population size leading to bottlenecks and enhanced drift (Willi, Griffin & Van Buskirk, 2013) can alter trajectories of population responses to human impacts (Kayanne et al., 2022). Lastly, pronounced cases of natural resources exploitation can lead to selection (e.g. reduced body size, earlier sexual maturity, reduced antler size, increased timidity) that would likely affect each BAM component (Andersen, Marty & Arlinghaus, 2018; Allendorf & Hard, 2009).

(7) The socioeconomic context

Importantly, the impact of the six major anthropogenic drivers on species' geographic distributions can vary with socioeconomic conditions, including cultural, demographic, economic, political, and institutional (Kelly *et al.*, 2020; Uchida *et al.*, 2021). For example, introduction of non-native species is closely associated with economic activities, especially international trade (Chapman *et al.*, 2017; Hulme, 2021), and the issue of invasive species can be mediated by human culture and policies (Robbins, 2004; Reino *et al.*, 2017). The spatial distribution of environmental impacts, such as air pollution, greenhouse gas emissions,

and deforestation, depends strongly on human density, economic status, and environmental policies (Bradshaw, Giam & Sodhi, 2010; Feng *et al.*, 2021).

III. IMPLICATIONS AND CHALLENGES OF HUMAN IMPACTS FOR ENM/SDM

(1) Human activities can directly and indirectly affect B, A, and M

In this section, we conceptualize human impacts on species' geographic distribution in the context of the BAM framework (Fig. 1). First, **M** could expand or contract with human activities (Fig. 1A–C), leading to new configurations of **B**, **A**, and **M** factors. In extreme cases, when **M** is very limited, the species' geographic distribution will be equivalent to **M**, whereas **B** and **A** will not be limiting factors (Fig. 1A); when **M** is extremely broad, the species could occur at any site with suitable **A** and **B** factors (Fig. 1C). Compared with the classic setup of the BAM diagram where B, A, and M all intersect each other, the extremely limited or expanded M constitutes simpler scenarios that may reduce the complexity of model considerations and thus potentially enhance model performance.

Owing to climate change and various other anthropogenic global changes, novel combinations of environmental conditions are emerging across geographic space. Some of these novel conditions are within the species' abiotic niche, and can potentially be occupied by the species; other novel conditions may be beyond a species' tolerance (Fig. 1D). Besides the non-analogue conditions relative to present (e.g. extreme temperature and precipitation), conditions generated by human activities such as chemical pollution [e.g. pesticides (Simonich & Hites, 1995); plastics (Du *et al.*, 2022)] and built environments [e.g. dams (Zhang & Gu, 2023); roads (Grilo *et al.*, 2021)] are also emerging as important factors in determining species' distributions (Fig. 1E). Such conditions (e.g. pollution, artificial light, noise) may have not existed before, or played only weak roles compared with natural conditions (e.g. climate). These novel conditions could be treated as additional dimensions in Hutchinson's hyper-volume niche space (Hutchinson, 1957).

Similarly, those new considerations of **A** can lead to new configurations of **B**, **A**, and **M** factors. The emergence of suitable novel conditions (and novel combinations of conditions) can lead to an expanded **A**. Loss of previously existing suitable conditions (or combinations of conditions) can restrict A. Changes in physiological tolerances of species to abiotic conditions expand or restrict A. Many humangenerated factors (e.g. pollution, noise) can reduce the geographic distributions of many species, thus one may expect many species to show a restricted \mathbf{A} (Finn *et al.*, 2023). Some species are 'winners', with stable or expanded A, especially those with traits that facilitate coping with, or rapid evolutionary adaptation to, human-generated factors (Sih, Ferrari & Harris, 2011). For example, plant species with tolerance to anthropogenic pollution are associated with colonization of metal-polluted habitats (Meyer et al., 2016), and bird species that vocalize at higher frequencies are known to inhabit noisy urban areas (Hu & Cardoso, 2009).

The natural settings of biotic interactions also face various changes as a result of human activities. For example, if natural biotic interactions are visualized as a network (Fig. 1F) where nodes represent species and width of connectors between nodes (i.e. edges) represents strength of interactions, the numbers of edges could decrease owing to species extinction; the strength of interactions could change as well (Fig. 1G). Humans can also become a major or the only interacting node for a focal species due to the extinction of other species (Fig. 1H; here termed the human-dominant network hypothesis). In the scenario of an introduced species, the novel species could be exposed to the biotic network of the introduced range (Fig. 1I). In cases of multiple introductions, species from the same or different origins may form entirely novel biotic networks in the introduced range (Fig. 1J, K).

The various types of biotic interactions can be grouped based on their effects on the focal species. For example, competition has negative effects on the interacting species, mutualism has positive effects, and commensalism effects are positive for one and neutral for the other species. In theory, biotic interactions could be integrated in a unified modeling framework, which will inform the changes (expanded or restricted) to **B** under human impacts (Fig. 1F–K), although many challenges exist as regards observing, measuring, and modeling these interactions in practice (Catchen *et al.*, 2023; Strydom *et al.*, 2021).

Note that human-induced changes in \mathbf{B} , \mathbf{A} , and \mathbf{M} may have interactive effects. Human introductions of species could directly increase the area accessible to species (\mathbf{M}), and thus could lead to expanded accessibility to novel abiotic and biotic conditions. Changes in community composition (**B**) may occur because species can respond differently to environmental changes (**A**); changes to spatial configuration of environmental conditions on a landscape can affect the dispersal (**M**) cost of species as well. Changes to **B** caused by humans could lead to changes to **M** (e.g. decreased **M** due to loss of pollinators or seed dispersers of plant species). Changes in **B** over a large spatial extent can trigger changes in **A** (e.g. deforestation-induced regional climate change in the Amazon Basin).

(2) The effects of human drivers can vary over spatial and temporal scales

The temporal and spatial context of a research question requires careful consideration of possible anthropogenic effects on predictor variables and species' records, and the implications of these effects on ENM/SDM. Humans have used and altered natural landscapes for millenia, and the intensity of human impacts has increased particularly since 1950, which is known as the start of the 'great acceleration' (Steffen et al., 2015, 2007). For example, in Europe, the expansion of human populations during the Neolithic has been linked to gradual continental forest fragmentation and deforestation (Roberts et al., 2018). While deforestation rates vary temporally and spatially, in the last few decades the intensification of land use has increased the area of young forest stands globally from 11.3% in 1900 to 33.6% of forest area in 2015 (McDowell et al., 2020). Substantial, accelerated forest cover loss was reported in the last decade in the Brazilian Amazon Basin (Trancoso, 2021).

Human impacts on the geographic ranges of species likely began tens of thousands of years ago. A global analysis of mammal distributions found that global, regional, and local extinctions by humans over the last 130,000 years have substantially altered mammal diversity patterns (Faurby & Svenning, 2015). In more recent times, beginning in the 18th century, some North American ungulates and carnivores experienced over 50% contraction of historical ranges; others shifted their ranges, and a few species, such as raccoon (Procyon lotor) and coyote (Canis latrans), experienced range expansions (Laliberte & Ripple, 2004). In the last 50 years, extinction risk has increased for about 23% of carnivores and ungulates worldwide (Di Marco et al., 2014). More generally, human pressures (e.g. human population growth and density) are strong predictors of geographic ranges of 92% of terrestrial mammals (Di Marco & Santini, 2015).

The effects of anthropogenic activities also vary with spatial scale (grain and extent) and may extend across scales (i.e. teleconnections; Heffernan *et al.*, 2014). Locally, removal of forest cover creates hotter and drier microclimatic conditions (Keenan & Kimmins, 1993); at regional scales, the thermal environment is further modified by the interaction between climate change and forest cover loss (Nowakowski *et al.*, 2017). Additionally, local microclimate conditions can be influenced by human land use in the landscape matrix; for example, proximity to urban centres can increase winter

temperature of forest fragments (Latimer & Zuckerberg, 2017). Urbanization can also impact energetic expenditures of species as they alter their activity patterns (e.g. increased nocturnal activity, larger foraging areas), resulting in higher energetic costs (Wang, Smith & Wilmers, 2017). More generally, species' responses to urbanization are dependent on traits such as mobility and habitat preference: plants with high dispersal ability and narrow habitat preferences respond positively to urbanization, while birds and butterflies with similar traits (high mobility, specialists) respond negatively to urbanization (Concepción *et al.*, 2015).

When urbanization has positive effects on some species, such as red fox (*Vulpes vulpes*), coyote, Eurasian badger (*Meles meles*), and raccoon (Bateman & Fleming, 2012), it can contribute to landscape-scale diversity of mammal communities (Parsons *et al.*, 2018). At a global extent, humans are changing diversity patterns and community composition (Young, 2014) by transporting species, thus rendering environmental gradients (climatic, topographic) ineffective as dispersal barriers, besides altering species' dispersal limitations. For example, plant communities in mountain regions in Europe, North America, and South America share a few dozen species as a result of long-distance dispersal of Eurasian plant species by humans (Seipel *et al.*, 2012).

The spatial and temporal variability of human impacts adds more complexity to estimating species' potential distributions. Recent contractions in species' ranges due to intensification of human activities may introduce incorrect model assumptions regarding species' climatic suitability (Martínez-Freiría *et al.*, 2016). In a study evaluating climate change implications on mammal distributions, models calibrated with contemporary (1965–present) occurrence records of North American mammals forecasted narrower future potential distributions compared to models trained on historical records dating back to the 1900s (Faurby & Araújo, 2018).

(3) Rethinking fundamental and realized niche concepts in the context of human impacts

Ecological niche theory distinguishes two states of the niche: fundamental and realized. Some reconsideration of the two terms is needed in the context of human impacts. The fundamental niche is defined in a hyper-volume within which environmental conditions permit a species to persist indefinitely (Hutchinson, 1957). In this context, the environment is interpreted as abiotic conditions (or scenopoetic or non-interactive variables; Hutchinson, 1978) that are not modified by a species (in contrast to biotic or interactive conditions; Peterson et al., 2011). In addition to the abiotic conditions commonly analysed, such as climate and elevation, the fundamental niche can be measured or quantified with environmental conditions that are driven or generated by human activities (Fig. 1E), such as land use, chemical pollution, or anthropogenic light and sound conditions. Species have different tolerances with respect to these conditions, and therefore these conditions exert different degrees of limitation on the species' geographic distribution. Similar to classic, abiotic (scenopoetic) conditions, human-related abiotic conditions are generally not modified by species. Therefore, given the prevalence and magnitude of human impacts across the globe, human-related abiotic conditions should be included as additional dimensions (axes) of the environment when measuring the hyper-volume of the fundamental niche (Fig. 1E).

The realized niche (i.e. the modification of the fundamental ecological niche by considerations of biotic interactions and movement) can also be dramatically impacted by human-induced changes in biotic interactions and dispersal abilities. Species' realized niches can expand with increased dispersal ability, or when relieved from natural enemies, or when the overall effect of biotic interactions favors a focal species' population growth; likewise, the realized niche can contract in opposite situations. In an extreme scenario of realized niche expansion, realized niches could be potentially larger than the fundamental niche because of two humaninduced mechanisms. First, humans can create favorable abiotic conditions within an area naturally unsuitable for a species' long-term persistence. Examples could be individuals living in zoos, botanical gardens, or nurseries that are outside a species' range (Sax, Early & Bellemare, 2013). Besides these controlled or constrained examples, there are also cases from more 'natural' settings. Multiple European bat species were observed wintering in urban environments north of their historical wintering range, likely because of the structural and thermal habitat provided by cities (Sachanowicz et al., 2019; Vlaschenko et al., 2023), and introduced bivalves overcame cold temperature limitations by inhabiting thermal plumes associated with a power plant (Simard et al., 2012; Laine, 2006). From the perspective of geographical range, these species could be considered as being present in locations with unsuitable conditions (i.e. outside the fundamental niche) when measured at a coarse spatial resolution (e.g. mean temperature across 100 km^2); although one may argue that conditions of the microhabitat at fine spatial scale can still exist within a species' fundamental niche.

The other human-induced mechanism through which a species' realized niche could be larger than its fundamental niche is resource subsidy for species to overcome limiting abiotic conditions and thus persist in naturally unsuitable conditions. These human subsidies can drastically increase the abundance of some species (e.g. 7-8 times for coyote, cat, and red fox; reviewed in Newsome et al., 2015). Abundance changes can occur within or outside a species' geographic range. For example, human subsidies have enabled establishment of red fox populations north of the climate-imposed distribution limit (Elmhagen et al., 2017); this may likely be a case where the realized niche is larger than the fundamental niche, although the latter is more commonly inferred than measured. The human interference with a species' realized niche is analogous to cases in which facilitation between species in natural settings expands the realized niche of a species beyond the fundamental niche (Soberón & Arroyo-Peña, 2017; Bruno, Stachowicz & Bertness, 2003). Such cases may constitute exceptions to the

common assertion that the realized niche is a subset of the fundamental niche (Hutchinson, 1957), although, to our knowledge, this possibility has not been systematically evaluated in the literature (Soberón & Arroyo-Peña, 2017).

(4) Assessing the assumptions of ENM/SDM in the context of human impacts

ENM/SDM builds upon several assumptions (Zurell *et al.*, 2020) that need to be considered before applying this modeling approach to various research questions. As humans are changing environments and species' geographic distributions, it is worth assessing whether the assumptions will hold in this anthropogenic context, and whether cases of violation of assumptions are frequent.

Equilibrium status assumes that a species is present at all suitable locations and absent at all unsuitable locations (Araújo & Pearson, 2005). However, the equilibrium status of species' geographic distribution is rarely evaluated (Foster, Kharouba & Smith, 2022); given the dynamics of abiotic conditions, dispersal limitations, and biotic interactions, the geographic distributions of many species likely deviate from equilibrium to some degree (i.e. non-equilibrium) (Peterson et al., 2011). From a more practical perspective, a dispersalbased approach has been proposed and broadly used in the ENM/SDM literature: instead of considering all locations (e.g. the whole world or a continent), a study area (or modeling domain) is defined based on species' dispersal ability in a spatial and temporal context, so that species' distribution data (presences and absences) can better fit the equilibrium assumption in this study area. For example, dispersal distance (Feng & Papeş, 2015) or natural barriers (Cooper & Soberón, 2018) have been used to define a study area, as opposed to political boundaries or worldwide maps. However, species' natural dispersal ability can be greatly increased with human introductions. In extreme cases in which a species can potentially reach (or 'explore') anywhere through human transportation, approaches based on natural dispersal will violate the assumption of equilibrium. Human activities can also restrict or impede species' dispersal via built environments and infrastructure (e.g. transportation systems). Therefore, refined dispersal ability and artificial dispersal barriers (e.g. Taylor, Papeş & Long, 2018) have to be considered in ENM/SDM to fit better the assumption of equilibrium (see Section IV.4 for solutions). Note that equilibrium status discussed above is commonly considered in geographic space and is different from environmental equilibrium, which refers to occupying all suitable abiotic conditions in the environmental space (Foster et al., 2022). A species could reach environmental equilibrium without reaching geographic equilibrium (see example in Foster et al., 2022), because one point in environmental space can be represented by multiple locations in geographic space (Soberón & Nakamura, 2009); as such, environmental equilibrium could be more applicable for making inferences of the ecological niche, which is considered a goal of ENM compared to SDM (Peterson & Soberón, 2012).

In applications of correlative ENM/SDM, biotic interactions are usually not quantified directly, and are generally assumed to be uniform or at least weak across the geographic distribution (or the modeling domain) of a species. This idea likely lies on the macroecological assumption that biotic interactions are more important determinants of species' distributions at fine spatial scales than at coarse spatial scales [termed the Eltonian Noise Hypothesis (Pearson & Dawson, 2003; Peterson et al., 2011)], besides the difficulty of quantifying biotic interactions adequately. Overlooking biotic interactions is unsatisfactory, and has led to ambiguity in the interpretation of the modeling goal: neither fundamental niche nor realized niche, but something in between (Soberón & Nakamura, 2009). Nevertheless, the assumption of constant biotic interactions may still largely hold if the model is only applied to the study area or the modeling domain where the species distribution data were collected. This assumption is more likely to be violated when the model is transferred across space and/or time, because the network of biotic interactions can face dramatic, or even unpredictable, changes compared with the natural setting of the native area (Fig. 1). Biotic interactions can no longer be assumed to be constant because novel communities can be formed under scenarios of climate change, species range shifts, or human introductions, thus the identities of the species that would interact with a focal species, as well as the strength of these interactions, are expected to deviate from the natural settings.

Commonly, the calibrated model is projected to another landscape and/or time where the environmental conditions could be outside the range of the calibration data and thus lead to model extrapolations. Model extrapolations are not supported by data, but rather rely on model assumptions (Gelman & Hill, 2006) and thus are potentially highly inaccurate. It is worrisome that model extrapolation can be common when forecasting species' distributions because of rapidly changing environments (Williams & Jackson, 2007). Therefore, assumptions used in model extrapolation should be re-evaluated.

One major assumption is that the relationships obtained from training occurrences and abiotic predictors will still hold when the model is projected to novel abiotic values (Jiménez-Valverde et al., 2009). Therefore, the reliability of model predictions depends on two circumstances: (i) the training data are representative of the fundamental niche; and (i) the fundamental niche does not change (i.e. is conserved) over relevant timescales (Peterson, Soberón & Sanchez-Cordero, 1999). The first circumstance can easily be violated as a species rarely occupies its potential distribution fully owing to biotic and dispersal limitations (with the exception of humans or species introduced by humans globally), so the occupied environmental conditions rarely fully represent its fundamental niche; another insuperable reality is that not all combinations of environmental conditions are represented in the geographic space at a given time (Soberón & Peterson, 2005), so a species can never occupy non-existent environmental conditions. Even when the first circumstance is met, the assumption of a 'static' relationship can be violated if changes occur to the fundamental niche. The assumption of niche conservatism is supported by a large volume of evidence (Peterson, 2011), although exceptions of rapid evolution are also accumulating (Salamin *et al.*, 2010). Rapid evolution of the fundamental niche could occur frequently in the future, given the emergence of novel environmental conditions and faster pace of human-induced environmental changes. Therefore, enhanced model extrapolation is needed for more reliable model predictions (see solutions in Section IV.1).

(5) The need for a more dynamic view of species' geographic distributions

Under natural rates of environmental change, barring major stochastic events, a species' geographic distribution could be viewed as (or assumed to be) relatively stable over timescales of decades. This stability is commonly summarized as current or extant range maps (e.g. extant geographic range of Dasypus novemcinctus compiled by IUCN; Loughry, McDonough & Abba, 2014). This stable nature of geographic distributions allows some flexibility of temporal mismatch between occurrences and environmental data, or congruence at a coarse temporal extent. For example, many applications of ENM/SDM conduct model training with occurrences across a range of years and the mean environmental conditions across the same temporal extent. In other words, the model is built on the idea of a 'static' geographic distribution under current conditions, and is used to predict a relatively static geographic distribution under future environmental conditions (i.e. from static to static), or relatively more dynamic distributions when dispersal or other factors are considered (i.e. from static to dynamic). This approach can be advantageous for correlative modeling, without worrying too much about inaccuracies caused by temporal mismatch between occurrences and the environment. However, this advantage is lost or weakened when a species' geographic range is experiencing rapid changes on shorter timescales and/or the environment is changing rapidly, which can affect the inference of the association between species' distribution and suitable environmental conditions. For example, a species with low dispersal capacity could fail to track the shift in locations with suitable environments, in which case the modeling approach that uses multidecadal cumulative or mean data will more likely be affected by the temporal mismatch between species' occurrence and suitable environments. Therefore, in the Anthropocene, a species' geographic distribution needs to be viewed in a more dynamic manner, and new modeling approaches (e.g. from dynamic to dynamic) will be needed to account for changes in species' ranges and the environment on fine temporal scales.

IV. WAYS TO IMPROVE ENM/SDM IN PRACTICE IN THE CONTEXT OF HUMAN IMPACTS

We outline five major challenges for ENM/SDM in the context of human impacts and propose strategies to mitigate or address the challenges (Table 2).

(1) Enhance model extrapolation under novel environmental conditions

Model extrapolation represents a significant challenge in correlative modeling (Yates *et al.*, 2018). Statistical textbooks generally recommend avoiding model extrapolation owing to potential inaccuracies in model predictions. However, model extrapolation is likely unavoidable for many biological and ecological studies and, with the various risks acknowledged, can provide meaningful predictions in guiding natural resource management and biodiversity conservation under global change (ecological forecasting syndrome; Chen, Liang & Feng, 2023), which is among the most frequent uses of ENM/SDM.

Current modeling algorithms have different 'behaviors' towards model extrapolation. 'Fishbowl models' (e.g. minimumvolume ellipsoid; Van Aelst & Rousseeuw, 2009) tend to assume a regular 'shape' or boundary of the niche (Loyola, 2012), beyond which the environmental conditions are unsuitable for a species. These algorithms simply predict zero probability of presence beyond the conditions of training presences. Several regression algorithms are able to extrapolate by extending the response curve following the slope obtained from training data, ultimately extending a fitted model towards infinity along the axes of predictors (Qiao et al., 2019). However, this type of extrapolation relies on assumptions about the underlying relationship (e.g. unimodal curve; Anderson, 2013), and predictions may be acceptable when environmental conditions are similar to that of the training data; however, errors associated with extrapolation increase as one moves further beyond the training data (Fitzpatrick et al., 2018).

Several machine learning algorithms extrapolate beyond the training data by 'clamping', which uses the boundary prediction to substitute the predictions beyond the training data (Qiao et al., 2019). This type of behavior could be considered as an intermediate option compared with the previous two (Anderson, 2013), and in certain cases may yield less-extreme predictions (as opposed to, for example, zero probabilities predicted by fishbowl models or high probabilities predicted by a regression model with a monotonically increasing extrapolation curve). However, clamping can also be sensitive to the boundary conditions (Anderson, 2013). For example, in extreme cases in which the boundary condition is predicted to be highly suitable or highly unsuitable, one can derive overestimation or underestimation, respectively, of a species' potential distribution under novel environmental conditions.

New approaches have been proposed in the literature to improve model extrapolation. The main philosophy is to incorporate biologically meaningful information in model fitting, thus overcoming the limitation of the correlative approaches. Such biologically meaningful information (e.g. biological responses to climate) is expected to extrapolate better in novel environmental conditions compared with a correlation-inferred relationship. First, this external information could be about the shape of the fundamental niche, which can be assumed to be regular (e.g. an ellipsoid) as opposed to irregular shapes (e.g. patterns learned from data by machine learning algorithms). The shape of the fundamental niche, although seemingly a simple piece of information, can serve as a strong framework in guiding model extrapolation (Jiménez *et al.*, 2019). Second, this shape assumption can be fine-tuned to define the structure of a response curve that determines quantitatively the probability of presence as a response to environmental conditions. For example, the response curve can be conceived as a plateau model with three connected segments: uphill, horizontal, and downhill (Brewer *et al.*, 2016), which fits well with the idea of an optimal range of conditions for a species and reduced suitability away from the optimal ones.

Further, external information, such as experiments or expert opinions, can be used to adjust the parameter estimations of the conceptual models to improve their biological connotation. For example, physiological limits may be used to inform model extrapolation regarding conditions beyond which the probability of presence is at a minimum (Brewer et al., 2016). Similarly, laboratory experiments characterizing species' responses to limiting factors can be used to guide the slope of the response curve under extrapolative conditions (Feng et al., 2020). Importantly, successful implementation of these approaches relies on the availability of biologically meaningful information and well-defined links or assumptions between this information and species' geographic distributions. For example, temperature measured in the laboratory could be used to define the shape of an ecological niche or describe a response curve quantitatively. To use such information in a real landscape, a corresponding abiotic variable from a real landscape is needed to represent the laboratory temperature. The establishment of such a link is difficult, because laboratory experiments are usually conducted under controlled (e.g. constant) conditions over limited time periods (e.g. days) whereas environmental conditions used in ENM/SDM can vary in complex patterns and commonly represent the integration of responses to conditions over longer time periods (e.g. months to years) (Feng et al., 2020; Feng & Papes, 2017). In a broader sense, biological information could be extended to include knowledge about related species. Building upon the theory of phylogenetic niche conservatism (e.g. closely related species with similar ecological niches; Peterson et al., 2011), studies have shown improved model performance across space (Castaño-Quintero et al., 2020) and time (Guillory & Brown, 2021), by including information about related species (Smith *et al.*, 2019).

In addition, when no external information is available to facilitate model forecasting, model extrapolation could be enhanced through specialized model tuning (Muscarella *et al.*, 2014). Typically, model tuning is used to select optimal settings based on model evaluation indices. The evaluation indices can be calculated with independent testing data, but more commonly a subset of species' occurrence data withheld from model training is used to calculate indices (Peterson *et al.*, 2011). A common practice for the latter

approach is to separate the training occurrences into multiple subsets randomly and to use one subset in rotation for model testing, in replicate runs (cross-validation). In contrast to random subsetting, new methods are proposed to separate the occurrences spatially or temporally, to evaluate models under a transfer scenario where testing data and training data have partial or no overlap in environmental space (Roberts et al., 2017). Therefore, this transfer can involve both model interpolation and extrapolation. The difference in data separation methods can lead to different interpretations of model performance. If a model performs well with spatial/temporal subsetting, it can be assumed to have better transferability, giving the researcher higher confidence in the model's performance in a real transfer scenario. In theory, data can also be separated in environmental space, which would enhance the confidence of model extrapolation (Valavi et al., 2019), although the ways in which partitioning is done in environmental space will have complicated consequences (Roberts et al., 2017).

As a minimum, if extrapolation is unavoidable, environmental novelty needs to be quantified as a proxy to infer the uncertainty of predictions. Previous studies have suggested that model accuracy decays with environmental novelty (Fitzpatrick *et al.*, 2018; Qiao *et al.*, 2019). Essentially, the environmental novelty can be viewed as dissimilarity between environmental conditions of training data and the conditions on which the model is to be projected. Such dissimilarity can be calculated as distances to the reference data set (Elith, Kearney & Phillips, 2010) or in refined ecological settings (the relative novelty of a set of conditions in the context of the reference data cloud; Owens *et al.*, 2013).

(2) Incorporate anthropogenic-related predictors in the modeling process

It is increasingly important to account for human-related factors that are crucial in determining species' geographic distributions. For example, Gallardo, Zieritz & Aldridge (2015) trained models with five anthropogenic variables as proxies of the human footprint, and found that such variables explained a substantial amount (23% on average) of invasive species' distributions. Other anthropogenic variables that are less commonly used in models (e.g. artificial light, sound, pollution) may have affected species distributions at large spatial extents (Escobar, Awan & Qiao, 2015). For example, artificial light at night and air pollution are known to negatively affect bird migrations (Overton *et al.*, 2022; La Sorte *et al.*, 2022). The improved nocturnal visibility caused by coastal development can affect the timing and distribution of foraging opportunities for shorebirds (Dwyer *et al.*, 2013).

To incorporate anthropogenic factors into ENM/SDM applications, the data must meet some conditions from a practical perspective. In the simplest manner, the data format needs to be compatible with that of other commonly used climatic layers (e.g. gridded data at the same spatial resolution as the non-anthropogenic data layers). The spatial extent of anthropogenic factors should cover the geographic

13

range of the species or the spatial extent of sampling that characterizes the species' distribution. A larger spatial extent (e.g. global or continental) of anthropogenic factors can guarantee broader applications in ENM/SDM studies. The temporal dimension of anthropogenic factors can be important as well, because many human activities are highly variable, and in some cases are under accelerating change (Steffen *et al.*, 2015). Therefore, high temporal resolution of the anthropogenic factors; however, to achieve temporal matching, species' occurrences would need to be recorded with a temporal resolution similar to that of the anthropogenic factors.

We have compiled a list of anthropogenic variables that show potential for ENM/SDM studies (Table 3). Most of these data are available at global extents with at least moderate spatial resolution (e.g. 1 km), and thus can be combined with other commonly used abiotic layers (e.g. climate). Future projections of a subset of those data are available. Some of these data layers represent a general index of human impact, such as human footprint, calculated as functions of multiple other human-related factors. By contrast, other layers represent different dimensions of human societies more directly, such as human population density, human migration, and gross domestic product (GDP). The list also covers major anthropogenic changes of the environment, such as global air, light and noise pollution, pesticide usage, and nitrogen and phosphorus fertilizer applications. Lastly, we also included global data representing major modifications of the Earth's surface: cropland maps, transportation infrastructures, and dams. Such anthropogenic variables can be used directly or modified further, for example by calculating the percentage of cropland or the distance to highways.

From an application perspective, including additional predictors in a model can potentially increase model complexity. In simple scenarios in which human effects are positive or negative for a species' distribution (Bennett *et al.*, 2002; Gallardo *et al.*, 2015), anthropogenic predictors would be added as simple terms (e.g. linear) to the existing predictors. On the other hand, when anthropogenic factors have variable effects (Toews, Juanes & Burton, 2017, 2018) or potentially interact with other predictors, the model would need to include sufficiently complex response types in the fitting process.

The use of anthropogenic factors in ENM/SDM is not restricted to model training: they can be applied in model forecasting, similar to forecasts of potential distributions under various climate change scenarios. In particular, future land-use and land-cover projections through 2100 (with extensions to 2300) are available from the Land-Use Harmonization project that were generated under the Shared Socioeconomic Pathways greenhouse gas scenarios of the World Climate Research Program Coupled Model Intercomparison Project (CMIP6) (Hurtt *et al.*, 2020; Rocha, Vale & Lima-Ribeiro, 2021). This data set covers 12 land-use and land-cover classes, including natural vegetation, agriculture, and urban areas. The future projections of climate, land use, and land cover are typically built on socioeconomic scenarios (e.g. human population growth and economic development) and are available for various political units or finer spatial resolutions (e.g. Hauer & CIESIN, 2021; Gao, 2020; Shaykheeva *et al.*, 2016).

(3) Incorporate environmental data at fine spatiotemporal scale to capture anthropogenic changes

Climatic conditions are known to play major roles in determining species' geographic distributions at large spatial extents (Pearson & Dawson, 2003). Thus, it is common practice to include climatic variables in ENM/SDM, and most applications in the literature rely on multi-decadal mean conditions, such as the 1970–2000 means in *Worldclim* v.2.1 (Fick & Hijmans, 2017) or 1979–2013 means for *CHELSA* v.1.2 (Karger *et al.*, 2018), likely due to the convenience of their global coverage and 'plug and play' data format.

However, recent rapid environmental changes, within the last 1-2 decades, may not be captured by the commonly used decadal data and thus may misrepresent relationships between species' current geographic distributions and the environments. Rapid climate changes are characterized not only by mean conditions, but also by the frequency and intensity of extreme events, such as droughts and heatwaves (Mann & Gleick, 2015; Jones et al., 2018). Those changes in climatic conditions are prominent in influencing species' geographic distributions: global warming leads to gradual distribution shifts, and extreme events can affect population dynamics rapidly and are known to be influential in determining limits of species' geographic ranges (Smale & Wernberg, 2013; Osland et al., 2020). Human-induced climatic effects could be global or regional, or at landscape scales, such as city heat island effects (Phelan et al., 2015), with important implications for species' ecology and distribution (Hamblin et al., 2017; Battles & Kolbe, 2019). Therefore, environmental data at fine spatio-temporal scales are needed to capture the environmental changes caused by human activities.

Ideally, the environmental data should be matched temporally with species' occurrences to obtain time-specific environmental values associated with species' occurrences. The precision of temporal matching can be increased from considering only year, to month, to exact matching of the day, to be precise in matching relevant environmental conditions to occurrences. The time-specific approach was found to quantify better species' responses to temporal variation in environmental conditions (Gschweng et al., 2012; Williams, Willemoes & Thorup, 2017; Smeraldo et al., 2018; Ingenloff & Peterson, 2021). When precise temporal matching is not possible, an alternative approach is to calculate mean conditions across moving temporal windows, as opposed to using static, multi-decadal mean conditions. In addition, species' occurrences also need to be matched with environmental data at high spatial resolution so that variation in environmental conditions is not blurred by coarse spatial resolution of data. Note that this is not meant to match a

Data set	Spatial resolution	Temporal resolution	Temporal extent	Future projection	Speculated relevance to B, A, and M	Reference
Global human footprint Global cropland maps	$30 \operatorname{arc-second} (aa. 1 \operatorname{km})$ 0.9 arc-second (aa. 30 m)	9 year 4 year	1995-2004 2000-2003; 2004-2007; 2008-2011; 2012-2015;		B, A, M B, A, M	WCS & CIESIN (2005) Potapov et al. (2022)
Human population density Global human food waste Global human settlement layer Global gridded gross domestic	30 arc-second (<i>ca.</i> 1 km) 30 arc-second (<i>ca.</i> 1 km) 100 m 1 km 1 degree (<i>ca.</i> 110 km)	10 year 1 year 5 year 1 year	2016–2019 2000–2100 2000 1975–2030 1990; 1995; 2000; 2005	```	B, A, M B, A, M B, A	Gao (2020) Oro <i>et al.</i> (2013) Pesaresi & Politis (2023) Nordhaus & Chen (2016)
product (GDP) Global gridded annual land-use	0.5 degree (ca. 55 km)	l year	1500 - 2100	>	B , A	Hurtt et al. (2011)
transitions Global land projection Global pesticide grids Global human migration grids	30 arc-second (<i>ca.</i> 1 km) 5 arc-min (<i>ca.</i> 10 km) 30 arc-second (<i>ca.</i> 1 km)	5 year 1 year 10 year	2015-2100 2015; 2020; 2025 1970-1980; 1980-1990; 1990-2000	>>	B,A B,A B,M	Chen <i>et al.</i> (2022) Maggi <i>et al.</i> (2020) de Sherbinin <i>et al.</i> (2015)
The global dam database Global dam tracker Global roads open access data set OpenStreetMap (e.g. seaports and railwav)	NA (vector point) NA (vector polygon) NA (vector line) NA (vector point)	l year l year 30 year Hourly-monthly	2011 2011 1900–2017 Up to present		A, M A, M A, M A, M	Lehner <i>et al.</i> (2011) Zhang & Gu (2023) CIESIN & ITOS (2013) OpenStreetMap (2022 <i>b</i>); OpenStreetMap (2022 <i>b</i>)
Global roads inventory project dobal roads density	5 arc-minutes (ca. 10 km)	18 year	1997 - 2015		A, M	Meijer et al. (2018)
gooza roace cursuy Global air pollution Global artificial night lights Global noise pollution Global 1-km downscaled urban Jand extert	0.01 degree (ca. 1.1 km) 30 arc-second (ca. 1 km) NA (vector line) 30 arc-second (ca. 1 km)	l year l year l year 10 year	1998–2021 2015 2016 2000–2100	>	4 4 4	van Donkelaar <i>et al.</i> (2021) Falchi <i>et al.</i> (2016) Martinelli (2017) Gao & Pesaresi (2021)
Global urban heat island data set Global high resolution daily extreme	NA (vector polygon) NA (vector polygon)	l ycar l ycar	2013 1983–2016		A A	CIESIN (2016) Tuholske <i>et al.</i> (2021)
urban near exposure The anthropogenic biomes of the world Global nitrogen fertilizer application Global phosphorus fertilizer application Accessibility to cities	$\begin{array}{l} 5 \; \mathrm{arc-min} \; (a. \; 10 \; \mathrm{km}) \\ 0.5 \; \mathrm{degree} \; (a. \; 55 \; \mathrm{km}) \\ 0.5 \; \mathrm{degree} \; (a. \; 55 \; \mathrm{km}) \\ 30 \; \mathrm{arc-second} \; (a. \; 1 \; \mathrm{km}) \end{array}$	1 year 7 year 7 year 1 year	2000 1994-2001 1994-2001 2015		A A A M	Ellis <i>et al.</i> (2014) Potter <i>et al.</i> (2012 <i>a</i>) Potter <i>et al.</i> (2012 <i>b</i>) Weiss <i>et al.</i> (2018)

Biological Reviews (2024) 000–000 © 2024 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

15

precise location with its environment at that precise moment, because such data are not available for most species across their ranges, and data are commonly aggregated to slightly coarse spatial resolutions. Another caveat is that, when matching species' presence data with the environmental conditions, such presence data are assumed to represent the long-term persistence of a species, as opposed to short-term presence in unsuitable or marginal conditions (e.g. occasional observations outside a known range or a sink population that goes extinct).

The feasibility of the high spatio-temporal matching approach depends critically on data availability. Among environmental data that are publicly available, data sets with high spatial (e.g. <1 km) and temporal resolution (e.g. daily) are relatively rare, particularly at global or continental extents and moderate temporal extents (e.g. from 2000 to present). Existing data sets are characterized by trade-offs between resolution and extent and between space and time. For example, the CHELSA climatic data set has daily temperature at 30-arc-second resolution (~800 m) at global extent, but is based on 20-year averages (as opposed to every day across the 20 years). PRISM, another climatic data set, has daily and monthly data on temperature at yearly scale from 1981 to present, but is only available for the extent of the USA. Note that such climatic data (e.g. temperature, precipitation) are not actual measurements in each cell of the grid; instead, the cell values are conditions inferred through spatial interpolation from weather station measurements, thus containing some uncertainties. Compared with the traditional weather station and interpolated climate data, remote-sensing satellites can provide good alternatives for environments at relatively high spatial (e.g. 500 m) and temporal resolution (daily) at global extent, with the limitation that most data are only available for the last 2-3 decades.

(4) Consider anthropogenic factors in the design of model training domains

The spatial extent across which correlative models are to be trained is a key determinant of the quality of many such models (Barve et al., 2011), because that area determines the environmental variability of pseudo-absences or background data from which the (relative) probabilities of presences are calculated by the models (Phillips et al., 2009). Until this realization (Anderson & Raza, 2010; Giovanelli et al., 2010; Barve et al., 2011), training areas for models were chosen for convenience, and too often without justification (Feng et al., 2019). The BAM conceptual framework for distributional ecology (Soberón & Peterson, 2005) points to the area that has been accessible to the species over relevant time periods (termed \mathbf{M}) as the appropriate area over which correlative models should be calibrated (Barve et al., 2011), as it represents the set of sites where the species has likely been present, and has had the opportunity to establish populations or not, depending in large part on the suitability of the conditions manifested there.

However, even with these realizations, the current practice in distributional ecology is to make proxy assumptions about the extent and characteristics of M. Perhaps most commonly, researchers use a distance buffer around the known occurrence points as an approximation of species' dispersal 'reach' (Feng & Papes, 2015); others delineate areas guided by biogeographic knowledge of the species, or use ecoregions or biotic regions (Cooper & Soberón, 2018). These proxies are generally unsatisfactory because they assume equal rates of diffusion in all directions, or depend on other species' range boundaries being a relevant indicator of dispersal potential for a particular species. These assumptions can be further challenged by anthropogenic changes of the natural landscape that subsequently affect species' dispersal ability. For example, highways can limit species' dispersal; on the contrary, roads can serve as dispersal corridors for some species, either naturally or facilitated by humans (Tikka, Högmander & Koski, 2001; Brown et al., 2006; Rauschert, Mortensen & Bloser, 2017).

A recent publication, however, offered an intriguing and more satisfactory path forward in this aspect of modeling methodology. Machado-Stredel, Cobos & Peterson (2021) created a simulation environment that included niche aspects (via an initial, simple assumption about the shape and size of the niche of the species in question), dispersal ability, and environmental characteristics of sites through time. Being explicitly designed for estimating M, this simulation platform allows the user to create 'hard' dispersal barriers (e.g. a road or a fence), and could be modified to take current climate change processes into account. The simulated M will critically depend on timespan of interest and dispersal parameters (e.g. dispersal kernel and dispersal events) (Machado-Stredel et al., 2021). Careful consideration of how anthropogenic factors would affect a particular species could guide development of simulations of **M** that would explicitly quantify human effects, thus avoiding the assumption-based approaches currently in use by many researchers.

(5) Incorporate human-induced dynamics of biotic interactions in modeling species' geographic distributions

Incorporating biotic factors in ENM/SDM relies on the assumption that their roles in shaping species' geographic distribution at large spatial scale are comparable to those of abiotic factors, although this point is often debated in the literature (Soberón & Nakamura, 2009; de Araújo, Marcondes-Machado & Costa, 2014; Fraterrigo, Wagner & Warren, 2014). The difficulty in assessing the role of biotic factors partly lies on the complexities with which biotic relationships could vary across space and through time [e.g. pollination (Burkle & Alarcón, 2011); herbivory (Ruttenberg *et al.*, 2019)] and multi-species interactions that can be determining a focal species' distribution. Nevertheless, substantial changes in biotic communities potentially induced by anthropogenic activities warrant more formal consideration of biotic factors.

A common practice is to use the presence, abundance, or suitability of relevant species, together with other abiotic variables, as predictors in correlative models. Examples include use of distribution of prey species as predictors of the suitability of predator species (Gherghel, Brischoux & Papeş, 2018), pollinators as predictors of plant species (Giannini et al., 2013), or host species presence as predictors of presence of parasites or viruses (Giannini et al., 2013). Inclusion of species as predictors requires prior knowledge of species' interactions, and relies on the assumption that the species included can facilitate or limit a focal species' range. The effectiveness of this approach could depend on multiple factors, such as strength of the assumed biotic relationship at the focal spatial scale (Soberón & Nakamura, 2009) and the spatial variation of the biotic relationship (Early & Keith, 2019). Another limitation is the assumed unidirectional interaction, e.g. the species used as predictor is treated as a fixed variable that is not influenced by the distribution of the focal species (Pollock *et al.*, 2014).

Another approach is to model multiple species' distributions simultaneously with a joint species distribution model (Pollock *et al.*, 2014). This correlative approach tries to quantify co-occurrences of multiple species, with biotic interactions inferred from the residuals, after accounting for abiotic factors. The major advantage here is the ability to partition out the contribution of abiotic factors, leaving the residuals to account for other ecological or evolutionary processes, including biotic interactions. On the other hand, the causal relationship of species' interactions is not explicitly modeled, which is similar to correlative approaches, thus it can be difficult to interpret the estimated species association (Zurell, Pollock & Thuiller, 2018), which could be scaledependent (König *et al.*, 2021).

Compared with correlative quantification of biotic interactions, the trait-based approach can be promising in quickly inferring biotic interactions (e.g. trophic interactions) when empirical data are not available, with the potential advantage of higher transferability across space and time (Caron et al., 2022). Information on biotic interactions can also be organized and synthesized with a network modeling approach to make refined quantifications and predictions of biotic interactions across space and time (Strydom et al., 2021; Marjakangas et al., 2022). Further, the rapidly growing databases of functional traits and species interactions, such as Mangal (Poisot et al., 2016) and GloBi (Poelen, Simons & Mungall, 2014), can make this modeling approach more broadly applicable to studying the role of biotic interactions in species' geographic distribution across scales.

From a macroecology perspective, the biotic networks are likely becoming simpler over time, at least globally, because of biotic homogenization (Rahel, 2000; Clavel, Julliard & Devictor, 2011; Magurran *et al.*, 2015) and mass extinctions (Ceballos *et al.*, 2015) caused by anthropogenic factors. As total numbers of species decrease with extinction, within the remaining species, a subset becomes abundant and widespread (e.g. generalist species, invasive species), creating a simplified biotic network at global scales. Studies have found weaker predator–prey interactions in urban areas compared with those in rural environments (Early & Keith, 2019). Quantification of biotic interactions, understanding their role in species geographic distributions, and their inclusion in ENM/SDM could thus become easier tasks, owing to the misfortune of biotic interactions simplified by human factors.

V. CONCLUSIONS

(1) Human factors have profoundly affected and are still increasingly affecting species' geographic distributions, directly or indirectly, *via* various biological, ecological, and evolutionary processes at a global scale.

(2) The three main factors that determine geographic patterns of species, i.e. biotic interactions (**B**), abiotic conditions (**A**), and dispersal ability (**M**) (also known as the BAM diagram), need to be reconsidered to understand and quantify species' distributions in a world with a pervasive signature of human impacts.

(3) Existing assumptions and theories of species' geographic distributions are challenged by human factors. As such, a more dynamic view of species' geographic distributions is needed in the BAM diagram: novel biotic interactions and environmental conditions as well as species' adaptation, and restricted or expanded dispersal capacities and modified landscape connectivities.

(4) Future studies should incorporate anthropogenic factors and consider their impacts in **B**, **A**, and **M** (Human-influenced BAM or Hi-BAM) in modeling and forecasting species' distributions.

VI. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The author appreciates the constructive comments from the reviewers and editors.

VII. REFERENCES

- AHMAD, H. I., AHMAD, M. J., JABBIR, F., AHMAR, S., AHMAD, N., ELOKIL, A. A. & CHEN, J. (2020). The domestication makeup: evolution, survival, and challenges. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution* 8, 103.
- ALEXANDRINO, E. R., BUECHLEY, E. R., PIRATELLI, A. J., FERRAZ, K. M. P. M. D. B., DE ANDRADE MORAL, R., ŞEKERCIOĞLU, C. H., SILVA, W. R. & DO COUTO, H. T. Z. (2016). Bird sensitivity to disturbance as an indicator of forest patch conditions: an issue in environmental assessments. *Ecological Indicators* 66, 369–381.
- ALFORD, R. A., BROWN, G. P., SCHWARZKOPF, L., PHILLIPS, B. L. & SHINE, R. (2009). Comparisons through time and space suggest rapid evolution of dispersal behaviour in an invasive species. *Wildlife Research* 36, 23–28.
- ALLENDORF, F. W. & HARD, J. J. (2009). Human-induced evolution caused by unnatural selection through harvest of wild animals. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **106**(Suppl 1), 9987–9994.
- ANDERSEN, K. H., MARTY, L. & ARLINGHAUS, R. (2018). Evolution of boldness and life history in response to selective harvesting. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 75, 271–281.
- ANDERSON, R. P. (2013). A framework for using niche models to estimate impacts of climate change on species distributions. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 1297, 8–28.

Biological Reviews (2024) 000-000 © 2024 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

- ANDERSON, R. P. & RAZA, A. (2010). The effect of the extent of the study region on GIS models of species geographic distributions and estimates of niche evolution: preliminary tests with montane rodents (genus *Nephelonys*) in Venezuela. *Journal of Biogeography* 37, 1378–1393.
- ARAÚJO, M. B. & PEARSON, R. G. (2005). Equilibrium of species' distributions with climate. *Ecography* 28, 693–695.
- ARNETH, A., DENTON, F., AGUS, F., ELBEHRI, A., ERB, K. H., ELASHA, B. O., RAHIMI, M., ROUNSEVELL, M., SPENCE, A. & VALENTINI, R. (2019). Framing and context. In Climate Change and Land: An IPCC Special Report on Climate Change, Desertification, Land Degradation, Sustainable Land Management, Food Security, and Greenhouse Gas Fluxes in Terrestrial Ecosystems (eds P. R. SHUKLA, J. SKEA, E. C. BUENDIA, V. MASSON-DELMOTTE, H.-O. PORTNER, D. C. ROBERTS, P. ZHAI, R. SLADE, S. CONNORS, R. VAN DIEMEN, M. FERRAT, E. HAUGHEY, S. LUZ, S. NEOGI, M. PATHAK, J. PETZOLD, J. P. PERERA, P. VYAS, E. HUNTLEY, K. KISSICK, M. BEIKACEMI and J. MALLEY), pp. 77–129. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), Geneva, Switzerland.
- BARBOUR, R. C., POTTS, B. M. & VAILLANCOURT, R. E. (2003). Gene flow between introduced and native Eucalyptus species: exotic hybrids are establishing in the wild. *Australian Journal of Botary* 51, 429–439.
- BARRETT, R. D. H., PACCARD, A., HEALY, T. M., BERGEK, S., SCHULTE, P. M., SCHLUTER, D. & ROGERS, S. M. (2011). Rapid evolution of cold tolerance in stickleback. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 278, 233–238.
- BARVE, N., BARVE, V., JIMÉNEZ-VALVERDE, A., LIRA-NORIEGA, A., MAHER, S. P., PETERSON, A. T., SOBERÓN, J. & VILLALOBOS, F. (2011). The crucial role of the accessible area in ecological niche modeling and species distribution modeling. *Ecological Modelling* 222, 1810–1819.
- BATEMAN, B. L., VANDERWAL, J. & JOHNSON, C. N. (2012). Nice weather for bettongs: using weather events, not climate means, in species distribution models. *Ecography* 35, 306–314.
- BATEMAN, P. W. & FLEMING, P. A. (2012). Big city life: carnivores in urban environments. *Journal of Zoology* 287, 1–23.
- BATTLES, A. C. & KOLBE, J. J. (2019). Miami heat: urban heat islands influence the thermal suitability of habitats for ectotherms. *Global Change Biology* 25, 562–576.
- BAYNE, E. M., HABIB, L. & BOUTIN, S. (2008). Impacts of chronic anthropogenic noise from energy-sector activity on abundance of songbirds in the boreal forest. *Conservation Biology* 22, 1186–1193.
- BENNETT, E. L., MILNER-GULLAND, E. J., BAKARR, M., EVES, H. E., ROBINSON, J. G. & WILKIE, D. S. (2002). Hunting the world's wildlife to extinction. *Opyx* **36**, 328–329.
- BERGMANN, M., LUTZ, B., TEKMAN, M. B. & GUTOW, L. (2017). Citizen scientists reveal: marine litter pollutes Arctic beaches and affects wild life. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 125, 535–540.
- BLUMSTEIN, D. T., FERNÁNDEZ-JURICIC, E., ZOLLNER, P. A. & GARITY, S. C. (2005). Inter-specific variation in avian responses to human disturbance. *The Journal of Applied Ecology* 42, 943–953.
- BONTE, D., VAN DYCK, H., BULLOCK, J. M., COULON, A., DELGADO, M., GIBBS, M., LEHOUCK, V., MATTHYSEN, E., MUSTIN, K., SAASTAMOINEN, M., SCHTICKZELLE, N., STEVENS, V. M., VANDEWOESTIJNE, S., BAGUETTE, M., BARTON, K., *ET AL.* (2012). Costs of dispersal. *Biological Reviews* 87, 290–312.
- BOULANGE, J., HANASAKI, N., YAMAZAKI, D. & POKHREL, Y. (2021). Role of dams in reducing global flood exposure under climate change. *Nature Communications* 12, 417.
- BRADSHAW, C. J. A., GIAM, X. & SODHI, N. S. (2010). Evaluating the relative environmental impact of countries. *PLoS ONE* 5, e10440.
- BREWER, M. J., O'HARA, R. B., ANDERSON, B. J. & OHLEMÜLLER, R. (2016). Plateau: a new method for ecologically plausible climate envelopes for species distribution modelling. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 7, 1489–1502.
- BRODIE, J. F., HELMY, O. E., BROCKELMAN, W. Y. & MARON, J. L. (2009). Bushmeat poaching reduces the seed dispersal and population growth rate of a mammaldispersed tree. *Ecological Applications* 19, 854–863.
- BROWN, G. P., PHILLIPS, B. L., WEBB, J. K. & SHINE, R. (2006). Toad on the road: use of roads as dispersal corridors by cane toads (*Bufo marinus*) at an invasion front in tropical Australia. *Biological Conservation* **133**, 88–94.
- BRUNO, J. F., STACHOWICZ, J. J. & BERTNESS, M. D. (2003). Inclusion of facilitation into ecological theory. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 18, 119–125.
- BURKLE, L. A. & ALARCÓN, R. (2011). The future of plant-pollinator diversity: understanding interaction networks across time, space, and global change. *American Journal of Botany* 98, 528–538.
- CALLEJA, F., ONDIVIELA, B., PUENTE, A. & JUANES, J. A. (2020). Can seedlings' physiological information improve vegetation distribution predictions at local scales? *Biological Invasions* 22, 2509–2523.
- CAPINHA, C., ESSL, F., SEEBENS, H., MOSER, D. & PEREIRA, H. M. (2015). The dispersal of alien species redefines biogeography in the Anthropocene. *Science* 348, 1248–1251.
- CARON, D., MAIORANO, L., THUILLER, W. & POLLOCK, L. J. (2022). Addressing the Eltonian shortfall with trait-based interaction models. *Ecology Letters* 25, 889–899.

- CASTAÑO-QUINTERO, S., ESCOBAR-LUJÁN, J., OSORIO-OLVERA, L., PETERSON, A. T., CHIAPPA-CARRARA, X., MARTÍNEZ-MEYER, E. & YAÑEZ-ARENAS, C. (2020). Supraspecific units in correlative niche modeling improves the prediction of geographic potential of biological invasions. *Perij* 8, e10454.
- CATCHEN, M. D., POISOT, T., POLLOCK, L. J. & GONZALEZ, A. (2023). The missing link: discerning true from false negatives when sampling species interaction networks. *EcoEvoRxiv*. https://doi.org/10.32942/X2DW22.
- CATULLO, R. A., LLEWELYN, J., PHILLIPS, B. L. & MORITZ, C. C. (2019). The potential for rapid evolution under anthropogenic climate change. *Current Biology* 29, R996–R1007.
- CEBALLOS, G., EHRLICH, P. R., BARNOSKY, A. D., GARCÍA, A., PRINGLE, R. M. & PALMER, T. M. (2015). Accelerated modern human-induced species losses: entering the sixth mass extinction. *Science Advances* 1, e1400253.
- CHAPMAN, D., PURSE, B. V., ROY, H. E. & BULLOCK, J. M. (2017). Global trade networks determine the distribution of invasive non-native species. *Global Ecology* and Biogeography 26, 907–917.
- CHEN, G., LI, X. & LIU, X. (2022). Global land projection based on plant functional types with a 1-km resolution under socio-climatic scenarios. *Scientific Data* 9, 125.
- CHEN, X., LIANG, Y. & FENG, X. (2023). Influence of model complexity, training collinearity, collinearity shift, predictor novelty, and their interactions on ecological forecasting. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* **33**, 371–384.
- CHEPTOU, P.-O., CARRUE, O., ROUIFED, S. & CANTAREL, A. (2008). Rapid evolution of seed dispersal in an urban environment in the weed *Crepis sancta*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 105, 3796–3799.
- CIESIN (2016). Global Urban Heat Island (UHI) Data Set, 2013. NASA Socioeconomic Data and Applications Center (SEDAC), Palisades. https://doi.org/10.7927/ H4H70CRF.
- CIESIN & ITOS (2013). Global Roads Open Access Data Set, Version 1 (gROADSv1). NASA Socioeconomic Data and Applications Center (SEDAC), Palisades. https://doi.org/ 10.7927/H4VD6WCT.
- CLAVEL, J., JULLIARD, R. & DEVICTOR, V. (2011). Worldwide decline of specialist species: toward a global functional homogenization? *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* 9, 222–228.
- COLDSNOW, K. D., MATTES, B. M., HINTZ, W. D. & RELYEA, R. A. (2017). Rapid evolution of tolerance to road salt in zooplankton. *Environmental Pollution* 222, 367–373.
- CONCEPCIÓN, E. D., MORETTI, M., ALTERMATT, F., NOBIS, M. P. & OBRIST, M. K. (2015). Impacts of urbanisation on biodiversity: the role of species mobility, degree of specialisation and spatial scale. *Oikos* 124, 1571–1582.
- COOPER, J. C. & SOBERÓN, J. (2018). Creating individual accessible area hypotheses improves stacked species distribution model performance. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 27, 156–165.
- DE ARAÚJO, C. B., MARCONDES-MACHADO, L. O. & COSTA, G. C. (2014). The importance of biotic interactions in species distribution models: a test of the Eltonian noise hypothesis using parrots. *Journal of Biogeography* **41**, 513–523.
- DE SHERBININ, A., LEVY, M., ADAMO, S., MACMANUS, K., YETMAN, G., MARA, V., RAZAFINDRAZAY, L., GOODRICH, B., SREBOTNJAK, T., AICHELE, C. & PISTOLESI, L. (2015). *Global Estimated Net Migration Grids by Decade: 1970-2000*. NASA Socioeconomic Data and Applications Center (SEDAC), Palisades. https:// doi.org/10.7927/H4319SVC.
- DI MARCO, M., BOITANI, L., MALLON, D., HOFFMANN, M., IACUCCI, A., MEIJAARD, E., VISCONTI, P., SCHIPPER, J. & RONDININI, C. (2014). A retrospective evaluation of the global decline of carnivores and ungulates. *Conservation Biology* 28, 1109–1118.
- DI MARCO, M. & SANTINI, L. (2015). Human pressures predict species' geographic range size better than biological traits. *Global Change Biology* 21, 2169–2178.
- DIAMOND, S. E. (2017). Evolutionary potential of upper thermal tolerance: biogeographic patterns and expectations under climate change. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1389, 5–19.
- DIAMOND, S. E., CHICK, L., PEREZ, A., STRICKLER, S. A. & MARTIN, R. A. (2017). Rapid evolution of ant thermal tolerance across an urban-rural temperature cline. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* **121**, 248–257.
- DITMER, M. A., STONER, D. C., FRANCIS, C. D., BARBER, J. R., FORESTER, J. D., CHOATE, D. M., IRONSIDE, K. E., LONGSHORE, K. M., HERSEY, K. R., LARSEN, R. T., MCMILLAN, B. R., OLSON, D. D., ANDREASEN, A. M., BECKMANN, J. P., HOLTON, P. B., *ET AL.* (2021). Artificial nightlight alters the predator-prey dynamics of an apex carnivore. *Ecography* 44, 149–161.
- DU, Y., LIU, X., DONG, X. & YIN, Z. (2022). A review on marine plastisphere: biodiversity, formation, and role in degradation. *Computational and Structural Biotechnology Journal* 20, 975–988.
- DUMYAHN, S. L. & PIJANOWSKI, B. C. (2011). Soundscape conservation. Landscape Ecology 26, 1327–1344.
- DWYER, R. G., BEARHOP, S., CAMPBELL, H. A. & BRYANT, D. M. (2013). Shedding light on light: benefits of anthropogenic illumination to a nocturnally foraging shorebird. *The Journal of Animal Ecology* 82, 478–485.

- EARLY, R. & KEITH, S. A. (2019). Geographically variable biotic interactions and implications for species ranges. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 28, 42–53.
- ELITH, J., KEARNEY, M. & PHILLIPS, S. (2010). The art of modelling range-shifting species. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 1, 330–342.
- ELLIS, E. C. (2015). Ecology in an anthropogenic biosphere. *Ecological Monographs* 85, 287–331.
- ELLIS, E. C., GOLDEWIJK, K. K., SIEBERT, S., LIGHTMAN, D. & RAMANKUTTY, A. N. (2014). Anthropogenic Biomes of the World, Version 2: 2000. NASA Socioeconomic Data and Applications Center (SEDAC), Palisades. https://doi.org/10.7927/ H4D798B9.
- ELMHAGEN, B., BERTEAUX, D., BURGESS, R. M., EHRICH, D., GALLANT, D., HENTTONEN, H., IMS, R. A., KILLENGREEND, S. T., NIEMIMAA, J., NORÉN, K., OLILLA, T., RODNIKOVA, A., SOKOLOV, A. A., SOKOLOVA, N. A., STICKNEY, A. A., *ET AL.* (2017). Homage to Hersteinsson and Macdonald: climate warming and resource subsidies cause red fox range expansion and Arctic fox decline. *Polar Research* 36(sup1), 3.
- ESCOBAR, L. E., AWAN, M. N. & QIAO, H. (2015). Anthropogenic disturbance and habitat loss for the red-listed Asiatic black bear (*Ursus thibetanus*): using ecological niche modeling and nighttime light satellite imagery. *Biological Conservation* 191, 400–407.
- ESSINGTON, T. E., MORIARTY, P. E., FROEHLICH, H. E., HODGSON, E. E., KOEHN, L. E., OKEN, K. L., SIPLE, M. C. & STAWITZ, C. C. (2015). Fishing amplifies forage fish population collapses. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* of the United States of America 112, 6648–6652.
- FAHNENSTIEL, G. L., LANG, G. A., NALEPA, T. F. & JOHENGEN, T. H. (1995). Effects of zebra mussel (*Dreissena polymorpha*) colonization on water quality parameters in Saginaw Bay, Lake Huron. *Journal of Great Lakes Research* 21, 435–448.
- FAILLETTAZ, R., BEAUGRAND, G., GOBERVILLE, E. & KIRBY, R. R. (2019). Atlantic multidecadal oscillations drive the basin-scale distribution of Atlantic bluefin tuna. *Science Advances* 5, eaar6993.
- FALCHI, F., CINZANO, P., DURISCOE, D., KYBA, C. C. M., ELVIDGE, C. D., BAUGH, K., PORTNOV, B., RYBNIKOVA, N. A. & FURGONI, R. (2016). Supplement to: The New World Atlas of Artificial Night Sky Brightness. V. 1.1. GFZ Data Services. Electronic file available at https://dataservices.gfz-potsdam. de/contact/showshort.php?id=escidoc:1541893&contactform Accessed 17.01.2023.
- FAURBY, S. & ARAÚJO, M. B. (2018). Anthropogenic range contractions bias species climate change forecasts. *Nature Climate Change* 8, 252–256.
- FAURBY, S. & SVENNING, J. C. (2015). Historic and prehistoric human-driven extinctions have reshaped global mammal diversity patterns. *Diversity and Distributions* 21, 1155–1166.
- FEDER, M. E. (2010). Physiology and global climate change. Annual Review of Physiology 72, 123–125.
- FENG, X., LIANG, Y., GALLARDO, B. & PAPEŞ, M. (2020). Physiology in ecological niche modeling: using zebra mussel's upper thermal tolerance to refine model predictions through Bayesian analysis. *Ecography* 43, 270–282.
- FENG, X., MEROW, C., LIU, Z., PARK, D. S., ROEHRDANZ, P. R., MAITNER, B., NEWMAN, E. A., BOYLE, B. L., LIEN, A., BURGER, J. R., PIRES, M. M., BRANDO, P. M., BUSH, M. B., MCMICHAEL, C. N. H., NEVES, D. M., *ET AL.* (2021). How deregulation, drought and increasing fire impact Amazonian biodiversity. *Nature* 597, 516–521.
- FENG, X. & PAPES, M. (2015). Ecological niche modelling confirms potential northeast range expansion of the nine-banded armadillo (*Dasypus novemcinctus*) in the USA. Journal of Biogeography 42, 803–807.
- FENG, X. & PAPEŞ, M. (2017). Physiological limits in an ecological niche modeling framework: a case study of water temperature and salinity constraints of freshwater bivalves invasive in USA. *Ecological Modelling* 346, 48–57.
- FENG, X., PARK, D. S., WALKER, C., PETERSON, A. T., MEROW, C. & PAPES, M. (2019). A checklist for maximizing reproducibility of ecological niche models. *Nature Ecology & Evolution* 3, 1382–1395.
- FENOGLIO, M. S., CALVIÑO, A., GONZÁLEZ, E., SALVO, A. & VIDELA, M. (2021). Urbanisation drivers and underlying mechanisms of terrestrial insect diversity loss in cities. *Ecological Entomology* 46, 757–771.
- FICK, S. E. & HIJMANS, R. J. (2017). WorldClim 2: new 1-km spatial resolution climate surfaces for global land areas. *International Journal of Climatology* 37, 4302–4315.
- FILLA, M., PREMIER, J., MAGG, N., DUPKE, C., KHOROZYAN, I., WALTERT, M., BUFKA, L. & HEURICH, M. (2017). Habitat selection by Eurasian lynx (*Lynx lynx*) is primarily driven by avoidance of human activity during day and prey availability during night. *Ecology and Evolution* 7, 6367–6381.
- FINN, C., GRATTAROLA, F. & PINCHEIRA-DONOSO, D. (2023). More losers than winners: investigating Anthropocene defaunation through the diversity of population trends. *Biological Reviews* 98, 1732–1748.
- FISCHER, J. & LINDENMAYER, D. B. (2007). Landscape modification and habitat fragmentation: a synthesis. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* **16**, 265–280.
- FITZPATRICK, M. C., BLOIS, J. L., WILLIAMS, J. W., NIETO-LUGILDE, D., MAGUIRE, K. C. & LORENZ, D. J. (2018). How will climate novelty influence

ecological forecasts? Using the quaternary to assess future reliability. Global Change Biology 24, 3575–3586.

- FLOWER, C., HODGSON, W. C., SALYWON, A. M., MAITNER, B. S., ENQUIST, B. J., PEEPLES, M. A. & BLONDER, B. (2021). Human food use increases plant geographical ranges in the Sonoran Desert. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 30, 1461–1473.
- FOLEY, J. A., DEFRIES, R., ASNER, G. P., BARFORD, C., BONAN, G., CARPENTER, S. R., CHAPIN, F. S., COE, M. T., DAILY, G. C., GIBBS, H. K., HELKOWSKI, J. H., HOLLOWAY, T., HOWARD, E. A., KUCHARIK, C. J., MONFREDA, C., *ET AL.* (2005). Global consequences of land use. *Science* **309**, 570–574.
- FORMAN, R. T. T. (2000). Estimate of the area affected ecologically by the road system in the United States. *Conservation Biology* **14**, 31–35.
- FOSTER, S. L., KHAROUBA, H. M. & SMITH, T. W. (2022). Testing the assumption of environmental equilibrium in an invasive plant species over a 130 year history. *Ecography* 2022, e06284.
- FRANK, D. A. (2008). Evidence for top predator control of a grazing ecosystem. Oikos 117, 1718–1724.
- FRANKLIN, J. (2010). Mapping Species Distributions: Spatial Inference and Prediction. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.
- FRANKLIN, J., SERRA-DIAZ, J. M., SYPHARD, A. D. & REGAN, H. M. (2016). Global change and terrestrial plant community dynamics. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences of the United States of America 113, 3725–3734.
- FRANKS, S. J., KANE, N. C., O'HARA, N. B., TITTES, S. & REST, J. S. (2016). Rapid genome-wide evolution in *Brassica rapa* populations following drought revealed by sequencing of ancestral and descendant gene pools. *Molecular Ecology* 25, 3622–3631.
- FRATERRIGO, J. M., WAGNER, S. & WARREN, R. J. (2014). Local-scale biotic interactions embedded in macroscale climate drivers suggest Eltonian noise hypothesis distribution patterns for an invasive grass. *Ecology Letters* 17, 1447–1454.
- FRICKE, E. C. & SVENNING, J. C. (2020). Accelerating homogenization of the global plant-frugivore meta-network. *Nature* 585, 74–78.
- FRITH, J. (2012). The history of plague part 1: the three great pandemics. *Journal of Military and Veterans Health* **20**, 11–16.
- FULLER, R. J. (2000). Relationships between recent changes in lowland British agriculture and farmland bird populations: an overview. *Ecology and Conservation of Lowland Farmland Birds* 1950, 5–16.
- GALLARDO, B., ZIERITZ, A. & ALDRIDGE, D. C. (2015). The importance of the human footprint in shaping the global distribution of terrestrial, freshwater and marine invaders. *PLoS QNE* **10**, e0125801.
- GAMLIEL, I., BUBA, Y., GUY-HAIM, T., GARVAL, T., WILLETTE, D., RILOV, G. & BELMAKER, J. (2020). Incorporating physiology into species distribution models moderates the projected impact of warming on selected Mediterranean marine species. *Ecography* **43**, 1090–1106.
- GAO, J. (2020). Global 1-km Downscaled Population Base Year and Projection Grids Based on the Shared Socioeconomic Pathways, Revision 01. Palisades. NASA Socioeconomic Data and Applications Center (SEDAC), New York. https://doi.org/10.7927/q7z9-9r69.
- GAO, J. & PESARESI, M. (2021). Global 1-km downscaled Urban land extent projection and base year grids by SSP scenarios, 2000–2100. NASA Socioeconomic Data and Applications Center (SEDAC), Palisades. https://doi.org/10.7927/1z4r-ez63.
- GEERTS, A. N., VANOVERBEKE, J., VANSCHOENWINKEL, B., VAN DOORSLAER, W., FEUCHTMAYR, H., ATKINSON, D., MOSS, B., DAVIDSON, T. A., SAYER, C. D. & DE MEESTER, L. (2015). Rapid evolution of thermal tolerance in the water flea Daphnia. *Nature Climate Change* 5, 665–668.
- GELMAN, A. & HILL, J. (2006). Data Analysis Using Regression and Multilevel/Hierarchical Models. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.
- GHERGHEL, I., BRISCHOUX, F. & PAPEŞ, M. (2018). Using biotic interactions in broad-scale estimates of species' distributions. *Journal of Biogeography* 45, 2216–2225.
- GIANNINI, T. C., CHAPMAN, D. S., SARAIVA, A. M., ALVES-DOS-SANTOS, I. & BIESMEIJER, J. C. (2013). Improving species distribution models using biotic interactions: a case study of parasites, pollinators and plants. *Ecography* 36, 649–656.
- GIOVANELLI, J. G. R., DE SIQUEIRA, M. F., HADDAD, C. F. B. & ALEXANDRINO, J. (2010). Modeling a spatially restricted distribution in the Neotropics: how the size of calibration area affects the performance of five presence-only methods. *Ecological Modelling* 221, 215–224.
- GRILO, C., BORDA-DE-ÁGUA, L., BEJA, P., GOOLSBY, E., SOANES, K., LE ROUX, A., KOROLEVA, E., FERREIRA, F. Z., GAGNÉ, S. A., WANG, Y. & GONZÁLEZ-SUÁREZ, M. (2021). Conservation threats from roadkill in the global road network. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* **30**, 2200–2210.
- GSCHWENG, M., KALKO, E. K. V., BERTHOLD, P., FIEDLER, W. & FAHR, J. (2012). Multi-temporal distribution modelling with satellite tracking data: predicting responses of a long-distance migrant to changing environmental conditions. *Journal* of Applied Ecology 49, 803–813.
- GUILLORY, W. X. & BROWN, J. L. (2021). A new method for integrating ecological niche modeling with phylogenetics to estimate ancestral distributions. *Systematic Biology* 70, 1033–1045.

Xiao Feng and others

- GUISAN, A., TINGLEY, R., BAUMGARTNER, J. B., NAUJOKAITIS-LEWIS, I., SUTCLIFFE, P. R., TULLOCH, A. I. T., REGAN, T. J., BROTONS, L., MCDONALD-MADDEN, E., MANTYKA-PRINGLE, C., MARTIN, T. G., RHODES, J. R., MAGGINI, R., SETTERFIELD, S. A., ELITH, J., *et al.* (2013). Predicting species distributions for conservation decisions. *Ecology Letters* 16, 1424–1435.
- HAMBLIN, A. L., YOUNGSTEADT, E., LÓPEZ-ÜRIBE, M. M. & FRANK, S. D. (2017). Physiological thermal limits predict differential responses of bees to urban heat-Island effects. *Biology Letters* 13, 20170125.
- HAMMOND, W. M., WILLIAMS, A. P., ABATZOGLOU, J. T., ADAMS, H. D., KLEIN, T., LÓPEZ, R., SÁENZ-ROMERO, C., HARTMANN, H., BRESHEARS, D. D. & ALLEN, C. D. (2022). Global field observations of tree die-off reveal hotterdrought fingerprint for Earth's forests. *Nature Communications* 13, 1761.
- HAUER, M. & CIESIN (2021). Georeferenced U.S. County-Level Population Projections, Total and by Sex, Race and Age, Based on the SSPs, 2020-2100. NASA Socioeconomic Data and Applications Center (SEDAC), Palisades. https://doi.org/10.7927/dv72-s254.
- HAYES, M. A., CRYAN, P. M. & WUNDER, M. B. (2015). Seasonally-dynamic presenceonly species distribution models for a cryptic migratory bat impacted by wind energy development. *PLoS ONE* 10, e0132599.
- HEFFERNAN, J. B., SORANNO, P. A., ANGILLETTA, M. J. JR., BUCKLEY, L. B., GRUNER, D. S., KEITT, T. H., KELLNER, J. R., KOMINOSKI, J. S., ROCHA, A. V., XIAO, J., HARMS, T. K., GORING, S. J., KOENIG, L. E., MCDOWELL, W. H., POWELL, H., *ET AL.* (2014). Macrosystems ecology: understanding ecological patterns and processes at continental scales. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* 12, 5–14.
- HICKLING, R., ROY, D. B., HILL, J. K., FOX, R. & THOMAS, C. D. (2006). The distributions of a wide range of taxonomic groups are expanding polewards. *Global Change Biology* **12**, 450–455.
- HOFFMANN, A. A. & SGRÒ, C. M. (2011). Climate change and evolutionary adaptation. *Nature* 470, 479–485.
- HU, Y. & CARDOSO, G. C. (2009). Are bird species that vocalize at higher frequencies preadapted to inhabit noisy urban areas? *Behavioral Ecology* 20, 1268–1273.
- HUDSON, C. M., MCCURRY, M. R., LUNDGREN, P., MCHENRY, C. R. & SHINE, R. (2016). Constructing an invasion machine: the rapid evolution of a dispersalenhancing phenotype during the cane toad invasion of Australia. *PLoS ONE* 11, e0156950.
- HULME, P. E. (2021). Unwelcome exchange: international trade as a direct and indirect driver of biological invasions worldwide. *One Earth* 4, 666–679.
- HURTT, G. C., CHINI, L., SAHAJPAL, R., FROLKING, S., BODIRSKY, B. L., CALVIN, K., DOELMAN, J. C., FISK, J., FUJIMORI, S., KLEIN GOLDEWIJK, K., HASEGAWA, T., HAVLIK, P., HEINIMANN, A., HUMPENÖDER, F., JUNGCLAUS, J., *ET AL.* (2020). Harmonization of global land use change and management for the period 850–2100 (LUH2) for CMIP6. *Geoscientific Model Development* 13, 5425–5464.
- HURTT, G. C., CHINI, L. P., FROLKING, S., BETTS, R. A., FEDDEMA, J., FISCHER, G., FISK, J. P., HIBBARD, K., HOUGHTON, R. A., JANETOS, A., JONES, C. D., KINDERMANN, G., KINOSHITA, T., KLEIN GOLDEWIJK, K., RIAHI, K., *ET AL.* (2011). Harmonization of land-use scenarios for the period 1500–2100: 600 years of global gridded annual land-use transitions, wood harvest, and resulting secondary lands. *Climatic Change* **109**, 117–161.
- HUTCHINSON, G. E. (1957). Concluding remarks. Cold Spring Harbor Symposia on Quantitative Biology 22, 415–427.
- HUTCHINSON, G. E. (1978). An Introduction to Population Ecology. Yale University Press, New Haven.
- INGENLOFF, K. & PETERSON, A. T. (2021). Incorporating time into the traditional correlational distributional modelling framework: a proof-of-concept using the Wood thrush *Hylocichla mustelina*. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 12, 311–321.
- JIMÉNEZ, L., SOBERÓN, J., CHRISTEN, J. A. & SOTO, D. (2019). On the problem of modeling a fundamental niche from occurrence data. *Ecological Modelling* 397, 74–83.
- JIMÉNEZ-VALVERDE, A., NAKAZAWA, Y., LIRA-NORIEGA, A. & PETERSON, A. T. (2009). Environmental correlation structure and ecological niche model projections. *Biodiversity Informatics* 6, 28–35.
- JOLLY, C. J., SHINE, R. & GREENLEES, M. J. (2015). The impact of invasive cane toads on native wildlife in southern Australia. *Ecology and Evolution* 5, 3879–3894.
- JONES, T., PARRISH, J. K., PETERSON, W. T., BJORKSTEDT, E. P., BOND, N. A., BALLANCE, L. T., BOWES, V., HIPFNER, J. M., BURGESS, H. K., DOLLIVER, J. E., LINDQUIST, K., LINDSEY, J., NEVINS, H. M., ROBERTSON, R. R., ROLETTO, J., *ET AL.* (2018). Massive mortality of a planktivorous seabird in response to a marine heatwave. *Geophysical Research Latters* 45, 3193–3202.
- KARGER, D. N., CONRAD, O., BÖHNER, J., KAWOHL, T., KREFT, H., SORIA-AUZA, R. W., ZIMMERMANN, N. E., PETER LINDER, H. & KESSLER, M. (2018). Climatologies at high resolution for the earth's land surface areas. *Dryad* Electronic file available at http://datadryad.org/stash/dataset/doi%253A10.5061% 252Fdryad.kd1d4 Accessed 16.01.2023.
- KASS, J. M., ANDERSON, R. P., ESPINOSA-LUCAS, A., JUÁREZ-JAIMES, V., MARTÍNEZ-SALAS, E., BOTELLO, F., TAVERA, G., FLORES-MARTÍNEZ, J. J. & SÁNCHEZ-CORDERO, V. (2020). Biotic predictors with phenological information

improve range estimates for migrating monarch butterflies in Mexico. *Ecography* **43**, 341–352.

- KAYANNE, H., HARA, T., ARAI, N., YAMANO, H. & MATSUDA, H. (2022). Trajectory to local extinction of an isolated dugong population near Okinawa Island, Japan. *Scientific Reports* 12, 6151.
- KEENAN, R. J. & KIMMINS, J. P. (1993). The ecological effects of clear-cutting. Environmental Review 1, 121–144.
- KELLY, L. T., GILJOHANN, K. M., DUANE, A., AQUILUÉ, N., ARCHIBALD, S., BATLLORI, E., BENNETT, A. F., BUCKLAND, S. T., CANELLES, Q., CLARKE, M. F., FORTIN, M.-J., HERMOSO, V., HERRANDO, S., KEANE, R. E., LAKE, F. K., *ET AL.* (2020). Fire and biodiversity in the Anthropocene. *Science* 370, eabb0355.
- KLINGBEIL, B. T., LA SORTE, F. A., LEPCZYK, C. A., FINK, D. & FLATHER, C. H. (2020). Geographical associations with anthropogenic noise pollution for North American breeding birds. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 29, 148–158.
- KNAPP, A. K., BLAIR, J. M., BRIGGS, J. M., COLLINS, S. L. & HARTNETT, D. C. (1999). The keystone role of bison in North American tallgrass prairie: bison increase habitat heterogeneity and alter a broad array of plant, community, and ecosystem processes. *Bioscience* 49, 39–50.
- KOEN, E. L., MINNAAR, C., ROEVER, C. L. & BOYLES, J. G. (2018). Emerging threat of the 21st century lightscape to global biodiversity. *Global Change Biology* 24, 2315– 2324.
- KÖNIG, C., WÜEST, R. O., GRAHAM, C. H., KARGER, D. N., SATTLER, T., ZIMMERMANN, N. E. & ZURELL, D. (2021). Scale dependency of joint species distribution models challenges interpretation of biotic interactions. *Journal of Biogeography* **48**, 1541–1551.
- LA SORTE, F. A., ARONSON, M. F. J., LEPCZYK, C. A. & HORTON, K. G. (2022). Assessing the combined threats of artificial light at night and air pollution for the world's nocturnally migrating birds. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* **31**, 912–924.
- LAINE, A. (2006). First record of the brackish water dreissenid bivalve Mytilopsis leucophaeata in the northern Baltic Sea. Aquatic Invasions 1, 38–41.
- LALIBERTE, A. S. & RIPPLE, W. J. (2004). Range contractions of North American carnivores and ungulates. *Bioscience* 54, 123–138.
- LATIMER, C. E. & ZUCKERBERG, B. (2017). Forest fragmentation alters winter microclimates and microrefugia in human-modified landscapes. *Ecography* 40, 158–170.
- LEE, C. E., KIERGAARD, M., GELEMBIUK, G. W., EADS, B. D. & POSAVI, M. (2011). Pumping ions: rapid parallel evolution of ionic regulation following habitat invasions. *Evolution* 65, 2229–2244.
- LEHNER, B., REIDY LIERMANN, C., REVENGA, C., VOROSMARTY, C., FEKETE, B., CROUZET, P., DOLL, P., ENDEJAN, M., FRENKEN, K., MAGOME, J., NILSSON, C., ROBERTSON, J. C., RODEL, R., SINDORF, N. & WISSER, A. D. (2011). *Global Reservoir and Dam Database, Version 1 (GRanDv1): Dams, Revision 01.* NASA Socioeconomic Data and Applications Center (SEDAC), Palisades. https://doi. org/10.7927/H4N877QK.
- LENOIR, J., GÉGOUT, J. C., MARQUET, P. A., DE RUFFRAY, P. & BRISSE, H. (2008). A significant upward shift in plant species optimum elevation during the 20th century. *Science* 320, 1768–1771.
- LEUVEN, R. S. E. W., VAN DER VELDE, G., BAIJENS, I., SNIJDERS, J., VAN DER ZWART, C., LENDERS, H. J. R. & BIJ DE VAATE, A. (2009). The river Rhine: a global highway for dispersal of aquatic invasive species. *Biological Invasions* 11, 1989.
- LJUNGFELDT, L. E. R., QUINTELA, M., BESNIER, F., NILSEN, F. & GLOVER, K. A. (2017). A pedigree-based experiment reveals variation in salinity and thermal tolerance in the salmon louse, *Lepeophtheirus salmonis. Evolutionary Applications* 10, 1007–1019.
- LOUGHRY, J., MCDONOUGH, C. & ABBA, A. M. (2014). *Dasypus novemcinctus*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2014: e.T6290A47440785. Accessed 19.09.2023.
- LOVEJOY, T. E. & NOBRE, C. (2018). Amazon tipping point. Science Advances 4, eaat2340.
- LOWE, S., BROWNE, M., BOUDJELAS, S. & DE POORTER, M. (2000). 100 of the world's Worst Invasive Alien Species: A Selection from the Global Invasive Species Database. Invasive Species Specialist Group Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.
- LOYOLA, T. F. R. R. D. (2012). Labeling ecological niche models. Natureza Conservação 10, 119–126.
- LUYSSAERT, S., JAMMET, M., STOY, P. C., ESTEL, S., PONGRATZ, J., CESCHIA, E., CHURKINA, G., DON, A., ERB, K., FERLICOQ, M., GIELEN, B., GRÜNWALD, T., HOUGHTON, R. A., KLUMPP, K., KNOHL, A., *ET AL.* (2014). Land management and land-cover change have impacts of similar magnitude on surface temperature. *Nature Climate Change* 4, 389–393.
- MA, H., NITTROUER, J. A., FU, X., PARKER, G., ZHANG, Y., WANG, Y., WANG, Y., LAMB, M. P., CISNEROS, J., BEST, J., PARSONS, D. R. & WU, B. (2022). Amplification of downstream flood stage due to damming of fine-grained rivers. *Nature Communications* 13, 3054.
- MACHADO-STREDEL, F., COBOS, M. E. & PETERSON, A. T. (2021). A simulationbased method for selecting calibration areas for ecological niche models and species distribution models. *Frontiers of Biogeography* 13, e48814.

- MAGGI, F., TANG, F. H. M., LA CECILLA, D. & MCBRATNEY, A. A. (2020). Global Pesticide Grids (PEST-CHEMGRIDS), Version 1.01. NASA Socioeconomic Data and Applications Center (SEDAC), Palisades. https://doi.org/10.7927/weq9-pv30.
- MAGURRAN, A. E., DORNELAS, M., MOYES, F., GOTELLI, N. J. & MCGILL, B. (2015). Rapid biotic homogenization of marine fish assemblages. *Nature Communications* 6, 8405.
- MANN, M. E. & GLEICK, P. H. (2015). Climate change and California drought in the 21st century. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 112, 3858–3859.
- MARJAKANGAS, E.-L., MUÑOZ, G., TURNEY, S., ALBRECHT, J., NEUSCHULZ, E. L., SCHLEUNING, M. & LESSARD, J.-P. (2022). Trait-based inference of ecological network assembly: a conceptual framework and methodological toolbox. *Ecological Monographs* 92, e1502.
- MARTINELLI, L. (2017). Global noise pollution map. Electronic file available at https://github.com/lukasmartinelli/osm-noise-pollution Accessed 17.01.2023.
- MARTÍNEZ-FREIRÍA, F., TARROSO, P., REBELO, H. & BRITO, J. C. (2016). Contemporary niche contraction affects climate change predictions for elephants and giraffes. *Diversity and Distributions* 22, 432–444.
- MASDEN, E. A., HAYDON, D. T., FOX, A. D., FURNESS, R. W., BULLMAN, R. & DESHOLM, M. (2009). Barriers to movement: impacts of wind farms on migrating birds. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* 66, 746–753.
- McDowell, N. G., Allen, C. D., Anderson-Teixeira, K., Aukema, B. H., BOND-LAMBERTY, B., CHINI, L., CLARK, J. S., DIETZE, M., GROSSIORD, C., HANBURY-BROWN, A., HURTT, G. C., JACKSON, R. B., JOHNSON, D. J., KUEPPERS, L., LICHSTEIN, J. W., *et al.* (2020). Pervasive shifts in forest dynamics in a changing world. *Science* 368, eaaz9463.
- MECH, L. D. (1995). The challenge and opportunity of recovering wolf populations. Conservation Biology 9, 270–278.
- MEIJER, J. R., HUIJBREGTS, M. A. J., SCHOTTEN, K. C. G. & SCHIPPER, A. M. (2018). Global patterns of current and future road infrastructure. *Environmental Research Letters* 13, 064006.
- MERRITT, D. M. & WOHL, E. E. (2006). Plant dispersal along rivers fragmented by dams. *River Research and Applications* 22, 1–26.
- MESSINA, J. P. & COCHRANE, M. A. (2007). The forests are bleeding: how land use change is creating a new fire regime in the Ecuadorian Amazon. *Journal of Latin American Geography* 6, 85–100.
- MEYER, C.-L., PAUWELS, M., BRISET, L., GODÉ, C., SALIS, P., BOURCEAUX, A., SOULEMAN, D., FRÉROT, H. & VERBRUGGEN, N. (2016). Potential preadaptation to anthropogenic pollution: evidence from a common quantitative trait locus for zinc and cadmium tolerance in metallicolous and nonmetallicolous accessions of *Arabidopsis hallei*. The New Phylologist 212, 934–943.
- MUHLY, T. B., SEMENIUK, C., MASSOLO, A., HICKMAN, L. & MUSIANI, M. (2011). Human activity helps prey win the predator-prey space race. *PLoS ONE* 6, e17050.
- MUSCARELLA, R., GALANTE, P. J., SOLEY-GUARDIA, M., BORIA, R. A., KASS, J. M., URIARTE, M. & ANDERSON, R. P. (2014). ENMeval: an R package for conducting spatially independent evaluations and estimating optimal model complexity for maxent ecological niche models. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 5, 1198–1205.
- NEWMAN, J. R., SCHREIBER, R. K. & NOVAKOVA, E. (1992). Air pollution effects on terrestrial and aquatic animals. In *Air Pollution Effects on Biodiversity* (eds J. R. BARKER and D. T. TINGEY), pp. 177–233. Springer USA, Boston.
- NEWSOME, T. M., DELLINGER, J. A., PAVEY, C. R., RIPPLE, W. J., SHORES, C. R., WIRSING, A. J. & DICKMAN, C. R. (2015). The ecological effects of providing resource subsidies to predators. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 24, 1–11.
- NORDHAUS, W. D. & CHEN, X. (2016). Global Gridded Geographically Based Economic Data (G-con), Version 4. NASA Socioeconomic Data and Applications Center (SEDAC), Palisades. https://doi.org/10.7927/H42V2D1C.
- NOWAKOWSKI, A. J., WATLING, J. I., WHITFIELD, S. M., TODD, B. D., KURZ, D. J. & DONNELLY, M. A. (2017). Tropical amphibians in shifting thermal landscapes under land-use and climate change. *Conservation Biology* **31**, 96–105.
- O'BRIEN, K. L. (1998). Tropical deforestation and climate change: what does the record reveal? *The Professional Geographer* **50**, 140–153.
- OCHOCKI, B. M. & MILLER, T. E. X. (2017). Rapid evolution of dispersal ability makes biological invasions faster and more variable. *Nature Communications* 8, 14315.
- OPENSTREETMAP (2022a). Harbour. Electronic file available at https://wiki. openstreetmap.org/wiki/Harbour. Accessed 18.01.2023.
- OPENSTREETMAP (2022b). Key: railway. Electronic file available at https://wiki. openstreetmap.org/wiki/Key:railway Accessed 19.01.2023.
- ORO, D., GENOVART, M., TAVECCHIA, G., FOWLER, M. S. & MARTÍNEZ-ABRAÍN, A. (2013). Ecological and evolutionary implications of food subsidies from humans. *Ecology Letters* **16**, 1501–1514.
- OSLAND, M. J., DAY, R. H. & MICHOT, T. C. (2020). Frequency of extreme freeze events controls the distribution and structure of black mangroves (*Avicennia germinans*) near their northern range limit in coastal Louisiana. *Diversity and Distributions* **26**, 1366–1382.
- OTTO, S. P. (2018). Adaptation, speciation and extinction in the Anthropocene. Proceedings of the Rayal Society B 285, 20182047.

- OUTHWAITE, C. L., MCCANN, P. & NEWBOLD, T. (2022). Agriculture and climate change are reshaping insect biodiversity worldwide. *Nature* 605, 97–102.
- OVERTON, C. T., LORENZ, A. A., JAMES, E. P., AHMADOV, R., EADIE, J. M., MCDUIE, F., PETRIE, M. J., NICOLAI, C. A., WEAVER, M. L., SKALOS, D. A., SKALOS, S. M., MOTT, A. L., MACKELL, D. A., KENNEDY, A., MATCHETT, E. L., *ET M.* (2022). Megafires and thick smoke portend big problems for migratory birds. *Ecology* 103, e03552.
- OWENS, H. L., CAMPBELL, L. P., DORNAK, L. L., SAUPE, E. E., BARVE, N., SOBERÓN, J., INGENLOFF, K., LIRA-NORIEGA, A., HENSZ, C. M., MYERS, C. E. & PETERSON, A. T. (2013). Constraints on interpretation of ecological niche models by limited environmental ranges on calibration areas. *Ecological Modelling* 263, 10–18.
- PARSONS, A. W., FORRESTER, T., BAKER-WHATTON, M. C., MCSHEA, W. J., ROTA, C. T., SCHUTTLER, S. G., MILLSPAUGH, J. J. & KAYS, R. (2018). Mammal communities are larger and more diverse in moderately developed areas. *eLife* 7, e38012.
- PEARSON, R. G. & DAWSON, T. P. (2003). Predicting the impacts of climate change on the distribution of species: are bioclimate envelope models useful? *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 12, 361–371.
- PERUGINI, L., CAPORASO, L., MARCONI, S., CESCATTI, A., QUESADA, B., DE NOBLET-DUCOUDRÉ, N., HOUSE, J. I. & ARNETH, A. (2017). Biophysical effects on temperature and precipitation due to land cover change. *Environmental Research Letters* 12, 053002.
- PESARESI, M. & POLITIS, P. (2023). GHS-BUILT-S R2023A GHS built-up surface grid, derived from Sentinel2 composite and Landsat, multitemporal (1975–2030) European Commission, Joint Research Centre (JRC).
- PETERSON, A. T. (2011). Ecological niche conservatism: a time-structured review of evidence. Journal of Biogeography 38, 817–827.
- PETERSON, A. T. & SOBERÓN, J. (2012). Species distribution modeling and ecological niche modeling: getting the concepts right. *Natureza & Conservação* 10, 102–107.
- PETERSON, A. T., SOBERÓN, J., PEARSON, R. G., ANDERSON, R. P., MARTÍNEZ-MEYER, E., NAKAMURA, M. & ARAÚJO, M. B. (2011). Ecological Niches and Geographic Distributions (MPB-49). Princeton University Press, Cambridge, UK.
- PETERSON, A. T., SOBERÓN, J. & SANCHEZ-CORDERO, V. (1999). Conservatism of ecological niches in evolutionary time. *Science* 285, 1265–1267.
- PHELAN, P. E., KALOUSH, K., MINER, M., GOLDEN, J., PHELAN, B., SILVA, H. & TAYLOR, R. A. (2015). Urban heat Island: mechanisms, implications, and possible remedies. Annual Review of Environment and Resources 40, 285–307.
- PHILLIPS, S. J., DUDÍK, M., ELITH, J., GRAHAM, C. H., LEHMANN, A., LEATHWICK, J. & FERRIER, S. (2009). Sample selection bias and presence-only distribution models: implications for background and pseudo-absence data. *Ecological Applications* 19, 181–197.
- PIMM, S. L. & RAVEN, P. (2000). Biodiversity. Extinction by numbers. *Nature* 403, 843–845.
- POELEN, J. H., SIMONS, J. D. & MUNGALL, C. J. (2014). Global biotic interactions: an open infrastructure to share and analyze species-interaction datasets. *Ecological Informatics* 24, 148–159.
- POISOT, T., BAISER, B., DUNNE, J. A., KÉFI, S., MASSOL, F., MOUQUET, N., ROMANUK, T. N., STOUFFER, D. B., WOOD, S. A. & GRAVEL, D. (2016). Mangal – making ecological network analysis simple. *Ecography* **39**, 384–390.
- POLLOCK, L. J., TINGLEY, R., MORRIS, W. K., GOLDING, N., O'HARA, R. B., PARRIS, K. M., VESK, P. A. & MCCARTHY, M. A. (2014). Understanding co-occurrence by modelling species simultaneously with a joint species distribution model (JSDM). *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 5, 397–406.
- POTAPOV, P., TURUBANOVA, S., HANSEN, M. C., TYUKAVINA, A., ZALLES, V., KHAN, A., SONG, X.-P., PICKENS, A., SHEN, Q. & CORTEZ, J. (2022). Global maps of cropland extent and change show accelerated cropland expansion in the twenty-first century. *Nature Food* 3, 19–28.
- POTTER, P., RAMANKUTTY, N., BENNETT, E. M. & DONNER, S. D. (2012a). Global Fertilizer and Manure, Version 1: Nitrogen Fertilizer Application. NASA Socioeconomic Data and Applications Center (SEDAC), Palisades. https://doi.org/10.7927/ H4Q81B0R.
- POTTER, P., RAMANKUTTY, N., BENNETT, E. M. & DONNER, S. D. (2012b). Global Fertilizer and Manure, Version 1: Phosphorus Fertilizer Application. NASA Socioeconomic Data and Applications Center (SEDAC), Palisades. https://doi.org/10.7927/ H4FQ9TJR.
- PRIOR, K. M., POWELL, T. H. Q., JOSEPH, A. L. & HELLMANN, J. J. (2015). Insights from community ecology into the role of enemy release in causing invasion success: the importance of native enemy effects. *Biological Invasions* 17, 1283–1297.
- QIAO, H., FENG, X., ESCOBAR, L. E., PETERSON, A. T., SOBERÓN, J., ZHU, G. & PAPES, M. (2019). An evaluation of transferability of ecological niche models. *Ecography* 42, 521–534.
- RAHEL, F. J. (2000). Homogenization of fish faunas across the United States. Science 288, 854–856.
- RAUSCHERT, E. S. J., MORTENSEN, D. A. & BLOSER, S. M. (2017). Human-mediated dispersal via rural road maintenance can move invasive propagules. *Biological Invasions* 19, 2047–2058.

Biological Reviews (2024) 000-000 © 2024 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

1469185x, 0, Downloaded from https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.13077, Wiley Online Library on [10/04/2024]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by the applicable Creative Commons License

- RIPPLE, W. J. & BESCHTA, R. L. (2006). Linking a cougar decline, trophic cascade, and catastrophic regime shift in Zion National Park. *Biological Conservation* 133, 397–408.
- RIPPLE, W. J., WOLF, C., NEWSOME, T. M., BETTS, M. G., CEBALLOS, G., COURCHAMP, F., HAYWARD, M. W., VALKENBURGH, B., WALLACH, A. D. & WORM, B. (2019). Are we cating the world's megafauna to extinction? *Conservation Letters* 12, e12627.
- ROBBINS, P. (2004). Comparing invasive networks: cultural and political biographies of invasive species. *Geographical Review* 94, 139–156.
- ROBERTS, D. R., BAHN, V., CIUTI, S., BOYCE, M. S., ELITH, J., GUILLERA-ARROITA, G., HAUENSTEIN, S., LAHOZ-MONFORT, J. J., SCHRÖDER, B., THUILLER, W., WARTON, D. I., WINTLE, B. A., HARTIG, F. & DORMANN, C. F. (2017). Cross-validation strategies for data with temporal, spatial, hierarchical, or phylogenetic structure. *Ecography* **40**, 913–929.
- ROBERTS, N., FYFE, R. M., WOODBRIDGE, J., GAILLARD, M.-J., DAVIS, B. A. S., KAPLAN, J. O., MARQUER, L., MAZIER, F., NIELSEN, A. B., SUGITA, S., TRONDMAN, A.-K. & LEYDET, M. (2018). Europe's lost forests: a pollen-based synthesis for the last 11,000 years. *Scientific Reports* 8, 1–8.
- ROCHA, T., VALE, M. & LIMA-RIBEIRO, M. S. (2021). Global land-use and land-cover data for ecologists: historical, current, and future scenarios. *Biodiversity Informatics* 16, 28–38.
- RUNGE, C. A., TULLOCH, A., HAMMILL, E., POSSINGHAM, H. P. & FULLER, R. A. (2015). Geographic range size and extinction risk assessment in nomadic species. *Conservation Biology* 29, 865–876.
- RUTTENBERG, B. I., ADAM, T. C., DURAN, A. & BURKEPILE, D. E. (2019). Identity of coral reef herbivores drives variation in ecological processes over multiple spatial scales. *Ecological Applications* 29, e01893.
- SACHANOWICZ, K., CIECHANOWSKI, M., TRYJANOWSKI, P. & KOSICKI, J. Z. (2019). Wintering range of *Pipistrellus nathusii* (Chiroptera) in Central Europe: has the species extended to the north-east using urban heat islands? *Mammalia* 83, 260–271.
- SALAFSKY, N., SALZER, D., STATTERSFIELD, A. J., HILTON-TAYLOR, C., NEUGARTEN, R., BUTCHART, S. H. M., COLLEN, B., COX, N., MASTER, L. L., O'CONNOR, S. & WILKIE, D. (2008). A standard lexicon for biodiversity conservation: unified classifications of threats and actions. *Conservation Biology* 22, 897–911.
- SALAMIN, N., WÜEST, R. O., LAVERGNE, S., THUILLER, W. & PEARMAN, P. B. (2010). Assessing rapid evolution in a changing environment. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 25, 692–698.
- SAX, D. F., EARLY, R. & BELLEMARE, J. (2013). Niche syndromes, species extinction risks, and management under climate change. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 28, 517–523.
- SCHILTHUIZEN, M. (2019). Darwin Comes to Town: How the Urban Jungle Drives Evolution. Picador, New York, US.
- SEEBENS, H., BLACKBURN, T. M., DYER, E. E., GENOVESI, P., HULME, P. E., JESCHKE, J. M., PAGAD, S., PYŠEK, P., WINTER, M., ARIANOUTSOU, M., BACHER, S., BLASIUS, B., BRUNDU, G., CAPINHA, C., CELESTI-GRAPOW, L., *ET AL.* (2017). No saturation in the accumulation of alien species worldwide. *Nature Communications* 8, 14435.
- SEIPEL, T., KUEFFER, C., REW, L. J., DAEHLER, C. C., PAUCHARD, A., NAYLOR, B. J., ALEXANDER, J. M., EDWARDS, P. J., PARKS, C. G., AREVALO, J. R., CAVIERES, L. A., DIETZ, H., JAKOBS, G., MCDOUGALL, K., OTTO, R., *ET AL.* (2012). Processes at multiple scales affect richness and similarity of non-native plant species in mountains around the world. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 21, 236–246.
- SHANMUGANATHAN, T., PALLISTER, J., DOODY, S., MCCALLUM, H., ROBINSON, T., SHEPPARD, A., HARDY, C., HALLIDAY, D., VENABLES, D., VOYSEY, R., STRIVE, T., HINDS, L. & HYATT, A. (2010). Biological control of the cane toad in Australia: a review. *Animal Conservation* 13, 16–23.
- SHAYKHEEVA, D., PANASYUK, M., MALGANOVA, I. & KHAIRULLIN, I. (2016). World population estimates and projections: data and methods. *Journal of Economics and Economic Education Research* 17, 237–247.
- SHEPARD, D. B., KUHNS, A. R., DRESLIK, M. J. & PHILLIPS, C. A. (2008). Roads as barriers to animal movement in fragmented landscapes. *Animal Conservation* 11, 288–296.
- SIDDIG, A. A. H., ELLISON, A. M., OCHS, A., VILLAR-LEEMAN, C. & LAU, M. K. (2016). How do ecologists select and use indicator species to monitor ecological change? Insights from 14 years of publication in ecological indicators. *Ecological Indicators* **60**, 223–230.
- SIH, A., FERRARI, M. C. O. & HARRIS, D. J. (2011). Evolution and behavioural responses to human-induced rapid environmental change. *Evolutionary Applications* 4, 367–387.
- SIMARD, A., PAQUET, A., JUTRAS, C., ROBITAILLE, Y., BLIER, P., COURTOIS, R. & MARTEL, A. (2012). North American range extension of the invasive Asian clam in a St. Lawrence River power station thermal plume. *Aquatic Invasions* 7, 81–89.

- SIMONICH, S. L. & HITES, R. A. (1995). Global distribution of persistent organochlorine compounds. *Science* 269, 1851–1854.
- SKARIN, A., NELLEMANN, C., RÖNNEGÅRD, L., SANDSTRÖM, P. & LUNDQVIST, H. (2015). Wind farm construction impacts reindeer migration and movement corridors. *Landscape Ecology* **30**, 1527–1540.
- SMALE, D. A. & WERNBERG, T. (2013). Extreme climatic event drives range contraction of a habitat-forming species. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 280, 20122829.
- SMERALDO, S., DI FEBBRARO, M., BOSSO, L., FLAQUER, C., GUIXÉ, D., LISÓN, F., MESCHEDE, A., JUSTE, J., PRÜGER, J., PUIG-MONTSERRAT, X. & RUSSO, D. (2018). Ignoring seasonal changes in the ecological niche of non-migratory species may lead to biases in potential distribution models: lessons from bats. *Biodiversity* and Conservation 27, 2425–2441.
- SMITH, A. B., GODSOE, W., RODRÍGUEZ-SÁNCHEZ, F., WANG, H.-H. & WARREN, D. (2019). Niche estimation above and below the species level. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 34, 260–273.
- SMITH, M. D., ASCHE, F., GUTTORMSEN, A. G. & WIENER, J. B. (2010). Food safety. Genetically modified salmon and full impact assessment. *Science* 330, 1052–1053.
- SOBERON, J. (2007). Grinnellian and Eltonian niches and geographic distributions of species. *Ecology Letters* 10, 1115–1123.
- SOBERÓN, J. & ARROYO-PEÑA, B. (2017). Are fundamental niches larger than the realized? Testing a 50-year-old prediction by Hutchinson. *PLoS QNE* 12, e0175138.
- SOBERÓN, J. & NAKAMURA, M. (2009). Niches and distributional areas: concepts, methods, and assumptions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **106**, 19644–19650.
- SOBERÓN, J. & PETERSON, A. T. (2005). Interpretation of models of fundamental ecological niches and species' distributional areas. *Biodiversity Informatics* 2, 1–10.
- Song, X. P., HANSEN, M. C., STEHMAN, S. V., POTAPOV, P. V., TYUKAVINA, A., VERMOTE, E. F. & TOWNSHEND, J. R. (2018). Global land change from 1982 to 2016. *Nature* 560, 639–643.
- SREEKAR, R., CORLETT, R. T., DAYANANDA, S., GOODALE, U. M., KILPATRICK, A., KOTAGAMA, S. W., KOH, L. P. & GOODALE, E. (2017). Horizontal and vertical species turnover in tropical birds in habitats with differing land use. *Biology Letters* 13, 20170186.
- STAAL, A., FLORES, B. M., AGUIAR, A. P. D., BOSMANS, J. H. C., FETZER, I. & TUINENBURG, O. A. (2020). Feedback between drought and deforestation in the Amazon. *Environmental Research Letters* 15, 044024.
- STEFFEN, W., BROADGATE, W., DEUTSCH, L., GAFFNEY, O. & LUDWIG, C. (2015). The trajectory of the Anthropocene: the great acceleration. *The Anthropocene Review* 2, 81–98.
- STEFFEN, W., CRUTZEN, J. & MCNEILL, J. R. (2007). The Anthropocene: are humans now overwhelming the great forces of nature? AMBIO: A Journal of the Human Environment 36, 614–621.
- STORFER, A. (1999). Gene flow and endangered species translocations: a topic revisited. *Biological Conservation* 87, 173–180.
- STOTT, P. (2016). How climate change affects extreme weather events. Science 352, 1517–1518.
- STRAUSS, S. Y., LAU, J. A. & CARROLL, S. P. (2006). Evolutionary responses of natives to introduced species: what do introductions tell us about natural communities? *Ecology Letters* 9, 357–374.
- STRYDOM, T., CATCHEN, M. D., BANVILLE, F., CARON, D., DANSEREAU, G., DESJARDINS-PROULX, P., FORERO-MUÑOZ, N. R., HIGINO, G., MERCIER, B., GONZALEZ, A., GRAVEL, D., POLLOCK, L. & POISOT, T. (2021). A roadmap towards predicting species interaction networks (across space and time). *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B* 376, 20210063.
- SWANN, A. L., FUNG, I. Y., LEVIS, S., BONAN, G. B. & DONEY, S. C. (2010). Changes in Arctic vegetation amplify high-latitude warming through the greenhouse effect. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 107, 1295–1300.
- TAYLOR, A. T., PAPEŞ, M. & LONG, J. M. (2018). Incorporating fragmentation and non-native species into distribution models to inform fluvial fish conservation. *Conservation Biology* 32, 171–182.
- THIENGO, S. C., FARACO, F. A., SALGADO, N. C., COWIE, R. H. & FERNANDEZ, M. A. (2007). Rapid spread of an invasive snail in South America: the giant African snail, *Achatina fulica*, in Brasil. *Biological Invasions* 9, 693–702.
- TIAN, Z., CHEN, G., ZHANG, Y., MA, C., TIAN, Z., GAO, X., CHEN, H., GUO, J. & ZHOU, Z. (2022). Rapid evolution of *Ophraella communa* cold tolerance in new lowtemperature environments. *Journal of Pest Science* 95, 1233–1244.
- TIKKA, P. M., HÖGMANDER, H. & KOSKI, P. S. (2001). Road and railway verges serve as dispersal corridors for grassland plants. *Landscape Ecology* **16**, 659–666.
- TIMPE, K. & KAPLAN, D. (2017). The changing hydrology of a dammed Amazon. Science Advances 3, e1700611.
- TOEWS, M., JUANES, F. & BURTON, A. C. (2017). Mammal responses to human footprint vary with spatial extent but not with spatial grain. *Ecosphere* **8**, e01735.
- TOEWS, M., JUANES, F. & BURTON, A. C. (2018). Mammal responses to the human footprint vary across species and stressors. *Journal of Environmental Management* 217, 690–699.

- TRANCOSO, R. (2021). Changing Amazon deforestation patterns: urgent need to restore command and control policies and market interventions. *Environmental Research Letters* 16, 041004.
- TRAVIS, J. M. J., DELGADO, M., BOCEDI, G., BAGUETTE, M., BARTOŃ, K., BONTE, D., BOULANGEAT, I., HODGSON, J. A., KUBISCH, A., PENTERIANI, V., SAASTAMOINEN, M., STEVENS, V. M. & BULLOCK, J. M. (2013). Dispersal and species' responses to climate change. *Oikos* 122, 1532–1540.
- TREVES, A. & KARANTH, K. U. (2003). Human-carnivore conflict and perspectives on carnivore management worldwide. *Conservation Biology* 17, 1491–1499.
- TSIAFOULI, M. A., THÉBAULT, E., SGARDELIS, S. P., DE RUITER, P. C., VAN DER PUTTEN, W. H., BIRKHOFER, K., HEMERIK, L., DE VRIES, F. T., BARDGETT, R. D., BRADY, M. V., BJORNLUND, L., JØRGENSEN, H. B., CHRISTENSEN, S., HERTEFELDT, T. D., HOTES, S., *ET AL.* (2015). Intensive agriculture reduces soil biodiversity across Europe. *Global Change Biology* 21, 973–985.
- TUCKER, M. A., BÖHNING-GAESE, K., FAGAN, W. F., FRYXELL, J. M., VAN MOORTER, B., ALBERTS, S. C., ALI, A. H., ALLEN, A. M., ATTIAS, N., AVGAR, T., BARTLAM-BROOKS, H., BAYARBAATAR, B., BELANT, J. L., BERTASSONI, A., BEYER, D., *ET AL.* (2018). Moving in the Anthropocene: global reductions in terrestrial mammalian movements. *Science* **359**, 466–469.
- TUHOLSKE, C., CAYLOR, K., FUNK, C., VERDIN, A., SWEENEY, S., GRACE, K., PETERSON, P. & EVANS, A. T. (2021). Global High Resolution Daily Extreme Urban Heat Exposure (UHE-Daily), 1983-2016. NASA Socioeconomic Data and Applications Center (SEDAC), Palisades. https://doi.org/10.7927/fq7gny13.
- TURKO, P., SIGG, L., HOLLENDER, J. & SPAAK, P. (2016). Rapid evolutionary loss of metal resistance revealed by hatching decades-old eggs. *Evolution* 70, 398–407.
- TYLER MILLER, G. & SPOOLMAN, S. (2015). Environmental Science. Cengage Learning, Boston, US.
- UCHIDA, K., BLAKEY, R. V., BURGER, J. R., COOPER, D. S., NIESNER, C. A. & BLUMSTEIN, D. T. (2021). Urban biodiversity and the importance of scale. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 36, 123–131.
- URBAN, M. C., ZARNETSKE, P. L. & SKELLY, D. K. (2013). Moving forward: dispersal and species interactions determine biotic responses to climate change. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* **1297**, 44–60.
- VALAVI, R., ELITH, J., LAHOZ-MONFORT, J. J. & GUILLERA-ARROITA, G. (2019). block CV: an r package for generating spatially or environmentally separated folds for k-fold cross-validation of species distribution models. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 10, 225–232.
- VAN AELST, S. & ROUSSEEUW, P. (2009). Minimum volume ellipsoid. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Computational Statistics 1, 71–82.
- VAN DONKELAAR, A., HAMMER, M. S., BINDLE, L., BRAUER, M., BROOK, J. R., GARAY, M. J., HSU, N. C., KALASHNIKOVA, O. V., KAHN, R. A., LEE, C., LEVY, R. C., LYAPUSTIN, A., SAYER, A. M. & MARTIN, R. V. (2021). Monthly global estimates of fine particulate matter and their uncertainty. *Environmental Science & Technology* 55, 15287–15300.
- VITULE, J. R. S., SKÓRA, F. & ABILHOA, V. (2012). Homogenization of freshwater fish faunas after the elimination of a natural barrier by a dam in Neotropics. *Diversity and Distributions* 18, 111–120.
- VLASCHENKO, A., HUKOV, V., TIMOFIEIEVA, O., MOISEIENKO, M., DOMANSKA, A., ZINENKO, O. & PRYLUTSKA, A. (2023). Leaping on urban islands: further summer and winter range expansion of European bat species. *European Journal of Ecology* 9, 70–85.
- WALKER, T. L. & HOBACK, W. W. (2007). Effects of invasive Eastern redcedar on capture rates of *Nicrophorus americanus* and other Silphidae. *Environmental Entomology* 36, 297–307.
- WANG, Y., SMITH, J. A. & WILMERS, C. C. (2017). Residential development alters behavior, movement, and energetics in an apex predator, the puma. *PLoS ONE* 12, e0184687.

- WARWICK, S. I., SIMARD, M.-J., LÉGÈRE, A., BECKIE, H. J., BRAUN, L., ZHU, B., MASON, P., SÉGUIN-SWARTZ, G. & STEWART, C. N. JR. (2003). Hybridization between transgenic Brassica napus L. and its wild relatives: Brassica rapa L., Raphanus raphanistrum L., Sinapis arvensis L., and Erucastrum gallicum (Willd.) O.E. Schulz. Theoretische und angevandte Genetik 107, 528–539.
- WCS & CIESIN (2005). Wildlife Conservation Society (WCS), and Center for International Earth Science Information Network (CIESIN)/Columbia University-Last of the Wild Project: Global Human Footprint Dataset (IGHP). NASA Socioeconomic Data and Applications Center (SEDAC), Palisades. https://doi.org/10.7927/H4M61H5F.
- WEISS, D. J., NELSON, A., GIBSON, H. S., TEMPERLEY, W., PEEDELL, S., LIEBER, A., HANCHER, M., POYART, E., BELCHIOR, S., FULLMAN, N., MAPPIN, B., DALRYMPLE, U., ROZIER, J., LUCAS, T. C. D., HOWES, R. E., *Et al.* (2018). A global map of travel time to cities to assess inequalities in accessibility in 2015. *Nature* 553, 333–336.
- WELBERGEN, J. A., KLOSE, S. M., MARKUS, N. & EBY, P. (2008). Climate change and the effects of temperature extremes on Australian flying-foxes. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 275, 419–425.
- WILCOX, C., VAN SEBILLE, E. & HARDESTY, B. D. (2015). Threat of plastic pollution to seabirds is global, pervasive, and increasing. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 112, 11899–11904.
- WILLI, Y., GRIFFIN, P. & VAN BUSKIRK, J. (2013). Drift load in populations of small size and low density. *Heredity* 110, 296–302.
- WILLIAMS, H. M., WILLEMOES, M. & THORUP, K. (2017). A temporally explicit species distribution model for a long distance avian migrant, the common cuckoo. *Journal of Avian Biology* 48, 1624–1636.
- WILLIAMS, J. W. & JACKSON, S. T. (2007). Novel climates, no-analog communities, and ecological surprises. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 5, 475–482.
- WILSON, A. A., DITMER, M. A., BARBER, J. R., CARTER, N. H., MILLER, E. T., TYRRELL, L. P. & FRANCIS, C. D. (2021). Artificial night light and anthropogenic noise interact to influence bird abundance over a continental scale. *Global Change Biology* 27, 3987–4004.
- WINKLER, K., FUCHS, R., ROUNSEVELL, M. & HEROLD, M. (2021). Global land use changes are four times greater than previously estimated. *Nature Communications* 12, 2501.
- XU, W., VIÑA, A., KONG, L., PIMM, S. L., ZHANG, J., YANG, W., XIAO, Y., ZHANG, L., CHEN, X., LIU, J. & OUYANG, Z. (2017). Reassessing the conservation status of the giant panda using remote sensing. *Nature Ecology & Evolution* 1, 1635–1638.
- YANG, H., HAN, S., XIE, B., MOU, P., KOU, X., WANG, T., GE, J. & FENG, L. (2019). Do prey availability, human disturbance and habitat structure drive the daily activity patterns of Amur tigers (*Panthera tigris altaica*)? *Journal of Zoology* **307**, 131–140.
- YATES, K. L., BOUCHET, P. J., CALEY, M. J., MENGERSEN, K., RANDIN, C. F., PARNELL, S., FIELDING, A. H., BAMFORD, A. J., BAN, S., BARBOSA, A. M., DORMANN, C. F., ELITH, J., EMBLING, C. B., ERVIN, G. N., FISHER, R., *ET AL.* (2018). Outstanding challenges in the transferability of ecological models. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 33, 790–802.
- YOUNG, K. R. (2014). Biogeography of the Anthropocene: novel species assemblages. Progress in Physical Geography 38, 664–673.
- YOUNG, K. R. (2016). Biogeography of the Anthropocene: domestication. Progress in Physical Geography 40, 161–174.
- ZHANG, A. T. & GU, V. X. (2023). Global Dam Tracker: a database of more than 35,000 dams with location, catchment, and attribute information. *Scientific Data* 10, 111.
- ZURELL, D., FRANKLIN, J., KÖNIG, C., BOUCHET, P. J., DORMANN, C. F., ELITH, J., FANDOS, G., FENG, X., GUILLERA-ARROITA, G., GUISAN, A., LAHOZ-MONFORT, J. J., LEITAO, P. J., PARK, D. S., PETERSON, A. T., RAPACCIUOLO, G., *ET AL.* (2020). A standard protocol for reporting species distribution models. *Ecography* **43**, 1261–1277.
- ZURELL, D., POLLOCK, L. J. & THUILLER, W. (2018). Do joint species distribution models reliably detect interspecific interactions from co-occurrence data in homogeneous environments? *Ecography* **41**, 1812–1819.

(Received 20 January 2023; revised 8 March 2024; accepted 18 March 2024)

Biological Reviews (2024) 000-000 © 2024 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.